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PREFACE

I feel that an investigation into the frlend-
ships between each of the Lake Poets and DeQuincey 1is
worthwhile. The intercourse of these great personalities
and the effects they produced on one another are sources
of valuable 1nformation. It will be the object of this
gstudy to present the personal and social lives of the
Lake Poets and thelr devotee, with a view of finding
contributions and detractions made to each other by
this assoclation.

I am very grateful for important suggestlons
and corrections afforded through the generous ald of
Dr. Clement T. Goode and Dr. Lewls F. Ball, of the
Department of English, University of Richmond.

—mw—=S. A. C.
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CHAPTER 1

The Life of De Quincey

At the time of Thomas' birth, on August 15, 1785,
the Quinceys (in which form the father preferred the family
name) were liviﬁg at the Farm, or Greenhay, about a mile
away from Manchester. But De Quincey himself informs us
distinctly (1 that he was born in Manchester, and later
authorities have rectified this blunder made by memolrs.

De Quincey emphasized that his family was not a
recent French importation into England, but had come in
with the Conquest. De Quincey, while dwelling with fond-
ness on his genealogy, admits that most of the English De
Quinceys for many generations before his time had been

quite insigniflcant people. With other English families

of 1like origin, they had dropped the aristocratic prefix De;

l. De Qﬁincey, Autobiographic Sketches, p. 34.
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in addition to this they had consented, in the days of op-
tlonal spellling, to be Quincys, Quincies, or Quinceys. De

Quincey himself probably revived the prefix De (which he al-
ways wrote with the small d) in his particular branch of the
family.
| His father held a partnership in the firm of
Quincey and Duck, linen drapers in Manchester. After a time
he sold out this partnership and became a merchant on a larger
scale, and on his own account. On account of this he went to
Portugal, America, to the West Indies, and he did not see much
of Manchester. He married, however in 1781, and his wife gave
birth to eight children, of whom the fifth was Thomas. Soon
after the latter's birth he developed consumption end was
obliged to spend still more of his time abroad. In 1793, at
the age of forty, he came home for the last time, to die.
Obviously, his father was very modest; "a plain and
unpretending man," says De Quincey, at the beginning of his
Autoblographic Sketches. He was fond of books, which he read

mainly for amusement; having been denied the advantages of a
college education, he had an exaggerated respect for those who
had enjoyed them. De Quincey admitted that his father had al~

ways been a rather shadowy figure to him, come one day and



gone the next, almost indifferent to the personal affeirs
of his family.

His wife, nde Elizabeth Penson, "was a very different
type of person.” () She was the daughter of an officer
and came, like her husband, from solid middle-class stock,
though De Quincey indicates that this stock was socially
sﬁperior to her husband's. If his father had but 1little
influence on the development of De Quincey's character,
%n1s mother had what is perhaps better described as an
enormous 1n§o1untary effect upon it." () De Quincey's
.references to his mother are uniformly reépectful and reverent,
with Just a shade of critical remark on that side of her
character which ruled her relations to himself. He hints

in his Autobiographic Sketches that there was a touch 00

much of Romen firmness or hardness in her. Masson describes
her as, "a stately woman, every inch a lady, moving in the
best country circles, and with her feet on the Rock of Ages--

(4)

such was, and always had been, De Quincey's mother."

2. S8ackville-West, Thomaslgg Quincey, p. 3.
3. Ibid.

4. Masson, Thomas De Quincey, p.7.
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She was a deeply religious woman, whose love for
family and friends was deprived of warmth by being

so obviously dictated by a severe sense of duty.

She was, too, a woman of vigorous intellect; but

her main fault was that she ags a person of
unquestionable integrity had a driving desire to
influence others for thelir own good. I might mention
a curlous ldiosyncrasy of Mrs. De Qulncey, because

it had to do with the muddled financial state of

De Quincey's affairs.

There is no question about Mrs. De Quincey's
narrow religious notions. She took De Quincey out
of Bath School because he was too much praised, and
in his earlier days, at least, she seems to have
been by no means free from the abominable notion
that human affections deéply enjoyed must lead astray
from the péth of duty. A love of formality seems
to have been another weakness of this good lady.

De Quincey tells us with some humor of the dally
regulation according to which brothers and sisters
were carried before their mother for morning-parade

in her dressing room.



When we were prohounced to be in proper
trim, we were dlsmissed, but with two
ceremonies that were to us mysterious
and allegorical,-~first, that our halr
and faces. were sprinkled with lavender--
water and milk of roses; secondly, that
we received a kiss on the forehead.. (5)

The estate at Mr. Quincey's death amounted to 1600
1l a year, out of which each of the sons was to be allowed
150 1, and the daughters 100 1. This arrangement, in the
hands of competent trustees in 1793, should not have.
meant penury; the mismanagement of-Qnihcey's fortune, and
the miserable pittance on which his son Thomas was obliged
to live during his minority, must be ascribed to Mrs. De
Quinceyfs architectral extravedgences.

For four years after the death of De Quincey's father,
or from 1792 to 1796, the widow continued to livevat
Greenhay, trying her best to have her children educated,
Soon, when home-reading and mlscellaneous voluntary reading
no longer served their needs, a tutor was chosen, known as
the Rev., S. E., one of the guardlans by the father's will,

YWhen Thomas was seven his eldest brother William was

twelve years old; this senior brother, totally unmanage-

able, boisterous, prank-loving, collared his smaller

5. Japp, De Quincey Memorials, vol. I, p.. 70,



brother at once for his fag and spaniel. It is not for
nothing that De Quincey heads the long chapter of more
than eighty pages in which he treats of the time of his
subjection to his stormy elder brother with the words
Introduction to the World of Strife. It 1s easy to see

that during the three and a half years of which so much
fun is made in the retrospect, Thomas was generally
miserable.

The lessons given the nervous little creature
by the Rev. S, H, served to quiet his fears and trepidations.
"A conscientious man, though decidedly dull, he had grounded

. (6)
De Quincey well in Latin, and entered him in Greek,"

‘and he tralned Thomas well 1n his own field too. For three

years and a half Thomas was reqQuired to memorize a sermon
each week, and De Quincey the writer recalls certain passages
that impressed him. One passage, for instance, that sank
into him with a mystic sense of power was the phrase in

the book of Daniel, "Belshazzar the king made a great feast
to a thousand of his lords." The word Parish, meaning

"social outeast,”™ also sank into his consciousness, and

6. Masson, Thomas De Quincey, p. 12.



he uses 1t a great deal in his writings.

When 1t was arranged by the guardians that his
brother William, sixteen, should utilize his flair for
drawlng by studying under a London landscape-painter,

De Loutherbourg, it merked a new point in Thomas' 1life.

Some time in 1796, De Quincey's mother having
made up her mind to live at Bath, the establishment of
Greenhay was broken up, and the house and grounds were
sold. After being.boarded for a while in Manchester, for
continuation of the lessons under Rev. S. H., De Quincey
followed his mother to Bath, and he was entered at the
Bath Grammar School, presided over by Mr. Morgan, a classical
scholar; He remained there for about two years. From
the first he had a reputation of being something of a
prodigy, eSpecially for his Latin verse-making. Thomas

‘was to have his brother Richard, four years younger and
known as "Pink]' as a school-fellow; he was the very opposite
of William, of whom Thomas had seen the last. He died of
typhus-fever soon after he had become an art pupil.

As the result of an accidental blow to Thomas!

head dealt by a master, Mrs. Quincey sent him and his brother



to a private school at Winkfield, in Wiltshire, "of which
the chief recom?e%dation lay in the religious .character
7

of the master." Hardly more than a year had been spent
at Winkfield when the connection with that school was brought
to an end by an invitation to De Quincey of a kind which
his mother did not see fit to refuse., During the time of
his conWalescence at Bath, 1n the spring of 1799, he became
acquainted with the young Lord Westport. The latter ilnvited
De Quincey to join him st Eton and accompany him in a long
holiday on his father's estates in county Mayo, in the
West of Ireland. Arrangements having been duly made,
De Quincey did set out for Eton in the summer of 1800, to
begin a ramble and round of visits In England and Ireland,
which extended over four or five months. In the company of
Lord Westport, De Quincey had the honor of speaking to
King George III.

What happened was pretty nearly as

follows: the king, having first spoken

with great kindness to my companion . . .

then turned hls eyes upon me. My name,

it seems, had been communicated to him;

he did not therefore, inquire about

that. Was I of Eton? That was his

first question. I replied that I was

not, but hoped I should be. Had I a

father living? I had not: my father
had been dead about eight years. But

7. Ibid, p. 18,
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you have a mother? I had. 'and she
thinks of sending you to Eton?

I answered, that she had expressed
such an intention in my hearing . . .
0, but all people think highly of
Eton; everybody pralises Eton. Your
mother does right to inquire; there
can be no harm in that; but the more
she inquires, the more she will be
satisfied--that I can answer for. (8)

He was impressed by the friendliness of George III.
His majesty smiled in a very gracious
manner, waved his hand towards us, and
said something (I do not know what)
in a peculiarly kind accent; he then
turned around, ang the whole party
along with him. (9)

From Eton the two lads and a tutor went on a
Journey to Ireland on the 18th of July. Returning
- from Ireland to England in October, 1800, the two
friends parted at Birmingham; and 1t 1s rather
curious that Lord Westport is hardly heard of again
in De Quincey's history. From Birmingham, as
instructed by a letter from his mother, he went to
Laxton, in Northamptonshire, where his elder sister

already was.

-8+ De Quindey, Autobiographic Sketches, pp. 190-191 .

9. Ibid'! Pe 191 M



Mainly because of financlal limltatlons De Quincey
had to go to Manchester Grammar School some time late in
1800, for his three years of drudgery.' His account of the
school, and of the head~-master, Mr. Lawson, in whose house
he was boarded, is on the whole not unfriendly. But the
mbnotony of the school life itself put him out of spirits;
above all, the total deprivation of physical exercise
inflicted on Mr. Lawson's boarders by his absurd system of
regulating thelr hours from morning to evening had a
rulnous effect on De Quincey's health. After a year and
a half at the school, the prospect of another year and a.
helf became intolerable. In a letter to his mother, still
extant, he pleads most pitifully for his immediate removal.
When this pleading was of no avail, De Quincey decided to
run away. After recelving 10 1 from Lady Carbery, of
Laxton, who did not know his purpose, he slipped out of
Mr. Lawson's house early one morning in July, 1802. He
was then almost seventeen years old.

De Quincey's first idea, when he had made up
his mind to run away from Manchester School,was to roam
around the region of the English Lakes. He had a burning
desire to see Wordsworth, but he realized the awkwardness

of his position and also the necessity of communicating



-11-

with his mother. As hls mother had moved from Bath to
Chester, to a house called the Priory, the communlication
was not difficult. His mother took a stern view of the
affair, but his uncle, Colonel Thomas Penson, home from
India on a three years'! furlough, sympathized with him,
and made the generous offer of a guinea a week so that
the young man could wander around for a while.

From July to November, 1802, then, we see him
wandering about North Wales. But, even if this nomadic
existence was most pleasant, there was, as Masson says,
"the sting of some unsatisfied craving, the fatal longing
in his nature to break away from the customary and
respectable, and to dare the forbidden and indefinite"
which "carried him suddenly out of those Welsh solitudes." (10)
He decided to give up his gulnea a week, cut that reméin-
1ng_bond between him and his mother and guardians, and
bury himself in the world of London. There he sought
out & "Jew" money-lender named Dell and negotiated a
loan with an obscure attorney named Brunell. After Dell
head sucked ouﬁ charges for papers, stamps, and other

1ittle things,and pursued a policy of delay, De Qulncey

10. Masson, op. gik., p. 94,



was soon brought to his last guinea, but Brunell, not
an unkind man, let him sleep in his house. During
the day he was a tramp, treated with repugnance by
watchmen. He describes his relations, intimate but
innocent, with prostitutes. One he could never forget--
Ann of Oxford Street, whom he descrlibes as a poor
girl of sixteen who was goodkat heart even in her
degradation. She once saved his life when he fainted
from exhaustion; she ran for wine and stimulants,
buying them with her own money. But during
his absence from Oxford Street for a day or two,
London Ann had left, and he was chagrined. Throughout
his later deys her memory haunted him, for he never
saw her again.

To answer some of the critics of De Quincey,
who say that some of hls episodes of London vagrancy
are Just fiction, Masson asserts that, first of all
according to De Quincey's statement, he had not told
the whole truﬁh because 1t was imposslible, but he had
told nothing but the truth; second, iIn early private
letters published by Japp, the check on these facts
shows everything but date to be correct. (11)
Furthermore, all of De Quincey's

11. Ibidy p. 33.
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biographers and many contemporary writers are agreed that
De Qulncey had such experiences. This writer had the
opportunity of looking over De Quincey's early private
letters and was reassured of the checkkon facts glven in

the Autobiographic Sketches. His negotiations with money-

lender Dell turned out to be on the wrong side and produced
a crisis in the opium-eater's 1life. Then: ‘"Suddenly, at
this crisis an opening was mede, almost by accident, for
reconciliation with my guardians." This 1is very vague and
suggests that De Quincey was anxious not to go into
precise facts. Japp, In his article in James Hogg's book
-of recollections, stated that "a gentleman--a friend of
the family--whom he had metjin London"(13) effected the
reconciliation, in.which case 1t was probably the same
friend who had given him the 16.3' with which to make the
Journey to Eton. The most likely explanation seems to be
that Thomas, discovering through the wmedium of this

gentleman that he was free of troubles at home, decided to

12. Japp, QgﬂQuincayAMemorials, p. 374.

13. Hogg, De Quincey and his Friends, p. 37.
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return once more to Chester.

Thomas! second visit to the Priory, Chester,
was chiefly distinguished by his relations with his
uncle, Colonel Penson--relations which were rendered
comic by the conflict between the older man's
sympathy for hls nephew and his feeling that he ought
to treat him severely. He obeyed the former
alternative, showing in a letter written to him from
Indila 1n 1808, that he could "rest assured I shall
not invade the independence you desire to maintain."(14)
After a discussion with his guardians, 1t was agreed
that he might go to Oxford, but he should not get
more than 100 1. a year. So in the autumn of 1803,
at the age of elghteen, he went to Worcester College,
Oxford. "

De Quincey arrived at Oxford in December 1803,
and he remained there, off ahd on, for the neit three
and a half years, though his name was kept bn the
books of his college until 1810. He treated his college
as a more or less inconvenlent hotel, where the tultion

was a hindrance rather thean a help, and he left the university

14. Japp, Thomas De Quinceys Vels Ly pd' 101.
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without receliving anything from it. The undergraduates
were divided sharply into two classes: the sons of the
rich sristocracy who lived for sport and fun, and the poor
scholars who did nothing else but work. He did not like
the hablits of the rich undergraduates, and he found that
even the scholars were not well-read in English literature.
He must have been a queer figure, 1if only to judge from
his own statement that for the first two years of his
stay at Oxford he did not utter one hundred words. But
his insociability probably made him work harder, for
during his first two years he gained a large supply of
knowledge. For his pleasure he turned to his correspbndence
with Wordsworth; he also made inquiries about Coleridge.
One other phase of his Oxford days is important.
It was then that he first began to take opium. His first
experience of the drug was on a dull, ralny Sunday in the
spring or autumn of 1804, when, being on one of his visits
to.London, and having suffered for a week or two from
neuralgia, he took the advice of a friend and bought a
phial of the tincture of oplum at a druggist's shop in
Oxford Street. The effect when he took his first dose was

divine, and from then on he was an experimenter with opium.
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He was an apologlst for opium; he suggests that in
continuing the use of the drug he had hit on the specific
for the pulmonary consumption to which he was liable by
inheritancse, from his father. The reports of medical
authoritlies, however, are to the effect that he had
ulceration of the stomach, brought on probably by bad and
insufficient food during his vagrancy in Wales and ILondon.
Nevertheless, De Quincey avers that, although he took
opium at Oxford from 1804 on, it was still in such modera-
tion that he could have broken off the habit.

His name remained on the books of Worcester till
1810, but his time of residence was from 1803 to 1808,
and i1t 1s supposed that there was only a year of connection
with the Unlversity after 1807, and that was broken by
absences.

The improvement of De Quincey's pecuniary
c¢ircumstances in and from the year 1807 connects itself
more particularly with one interesting absence of his
from Oxford in the latter half of that year. Having gone
into Somersetshire in the course of the summer, and having
heard that Coleridge had returned from abroad, and was
then quartered eamong friends at Nether Stowey, in that

county, he went in search of the great man. He did not
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find him at Nether Stowey, but came upon him in the town
of Bridgewater, where he was staying with his wife and
his three young children, Hartley, Derwent, and Sara, in
the house of a certain family of Chubbs. A few weeks
after Coleridge went with his family to Bristol, it was
with delight that De Quincey found he could do the sage
some service. De Quincey offered to escort his wife and
children to Southey, at Greta Hall, Keswick, They
reached the Lake country by a route which required them
to take Wordsworth's cottage at Grasmere as their resting-
place before going on to Southey's. Twilice De Quincey had
been on the verge of this poetlc paradise before, but both
times he had retreated with nervous shrinking at the last
moment from the ldea of presenting himself fo Wordsworth.
Now, at last, in the character of convoy to Mrs. Coleridge,
he received a grasp of welcome from the poet's hand at his
door, and became his temporary guest. Soon the party went
on to Keswick, where De Quincey met Southey. All this was
in November, 1807, when De Quincey was twenty-two years
old.

Though De Quincey includes the year 1808
in the time of his Oxford residence, the records show him
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to have been much in London through parts of that year.
coleridge was undoubtedly one of his attractlions; other
attractions were seeing Lamb and Hazlitt and golng to the
opera. In November of the same year he paid a second
visit to Wordsworth at the Lakes, and he remained there
till February, 1809, when he returned to London. De
Quincey, after his return to London, saw through the
press a pamphlet on the Convention of Cintra, written by
Wordsworth.

In a letter Dorothy Wordsworth points to an
arrangement of some importance that had been made between
De Quincey and the Wordsworths. This was that De Quincey
should leave London, Oxford, and his other entanglements,
and should come to reside permanently at the Lakes and
as a tenant of Dove Cottagse.

It had origlnally been De Quincey's intention,
on leaving Oxford, to travel in Germany.(ls) Nevertheless,
like all his other projects for travel this came to
nothing because of lack of funds. His pecuniary affairs

had been going from bad to worse.

15. Woodhouse, in Hogg, De Quincey and his Friends, p. 99.
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In November, 1809, De Quincey, at the age of
twenty-four, took over his cottage at Townend, Grasmere.
Besides Wordsworth, Colerldge, and Southey, there were
three other literary notables in the Lake district at the
time of De Quincey's advent there. They were Dr. Richard
Watson, Blshop of Llandoff; Charles Lloyd, a fine philosopher
and poet who was later to become insane; John Wilson, after-
wards known as Frofessor Wilson or "Christopher North,"
who had made a rather enviable reputation for himself at
Oxford.

But after 1810, for reasons which will be pointed
out later, there was a gradual waning of the frlendship
between De Qﬁincey and Wordsworth, although Dorothy Wordsworth
was not to become cold towards him for sometime, and he was
still well-liked by the children.

He had brought the habit of opium-taking to the
Lakes with him; and.an indispensable article on his table,
on one night of the week at least, when he was seated by
himself, and the shutters were shut, the candles 1lit, was
the opium~-decanter. De Quincey's intimations on the subject
are perfectly plain. Through the eight years preceding
1812 he had, he says, persisted without interruption in

the use of opium, with a gradual increase both in the
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frequency of his doses and of the quantity of each, but
st1ll with no signs of harm. The year 1813, nevertheless,
was a fateful one in his history. What it was he does not
say, but 1t seems to have been some serious calamity of a
private kind, causling him distress. It may be suggested
that he had two main troubles: serious losses and sad
state of pecunlary affalrs, and the death of Tonny Words-
worth, who followed Catherine Wordsworth to the grave.

It was in the year 18135 that he became a confirmed opium-
eater, This also marks the beginning of gloom and Intellectusl
torpor rising from his opium debauches.

Durling the years 1813-1816, he went for several
rambles and trips away from the Lakes. Several times he
was in London; every year he was for some time in Somer-
setshire or elsewhere in the West of England, visiting his
mother and her friends.

There are not many striking Incidents in De
Quincey's bachelor 1life at the Lakes if we except his
well-known, but undated, adventure with the Malay. As
he sat reading in his upper room his servant gilrl,
Barbara, came up in agitation to say that a sort of demon

was waiting below to see him. Descending, De Quincey found
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a Malay, dressed in native clothes, with a turban on hils
head, standing in the dim light in the hall. Knowing
no Malay, De Quincey tried him with the Arabic word for
barley and the Turkish word for opium without result.
He had some food and rest, but before he started on his
way De Quincey gave him various presents, among them a
piece of opilum, which the Malay, to hls surprise and
alarm, proceeded to swallow at a mouthful. He fully
expected to see the man drop down dead on the spot;
on the contrary, the drug did not seem to have any effect
upon him, and he departed.

This incident seems to have been the only bresk
in the studious monotony of his days at this time. His
evenings, though, were soon to be spent in a different
manner. He visited the Simpsons frequently at thelr
farm, called the Nab, between Grasmere and Ambleside.
Before the year 1816, certalnly, he was in constant search
there for Margaret Simpson, the daughter. Whatever may
have been his feelings at the beginning of thelr frliend-
ship, a strong attachment soon grew up between the two

of them.
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By September, 1816, his mother knew of his
intention to marry, and she "instantly took up her
pen and wrote to him, asking Incredulously if the news
was true and managing to imply that, if it were, 1t ought
not to be."(16) The Wordsworths and Coleridges were
strongly opposed to the match, malnly because of the
premature birth of a child; but De Quincey and Margaret
had married In the end of 1816. At the date of the
marriage the bride was elghteen years, De Qulincey being
thirty-one.

It 1s somewhat pecullar that De Quincey never
pictured for hls readers the avowedly attractive figure
of Margaret De Quincey. We get, though, a good idea
of her character and of her help to the oplum-eater.
We gather that the extreme pliabillity and sweetness that
informed Margaret's manner was evldently set off by a
character of solid common sense and very touching fildelity.
As he himself testified: "Without the aid of M., all
records of bills paid, or to be pald, must have perished:
and my whole domestic economy, whatever became of Politlcal

(17)
Economy, must have gone into irretrievable confusion."”

16, Sackville ~West, op.cit., p.1l19.
17. De Quincey, Confessions, (1823), p. 155.
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For a while before the event, and in anticipation
of it, De Quincey had, as he tells us "suddenly and without
any considerable effort," reduced his daily allowance of
opium from 320 grains, or 8000 drops, to 40 grains, or
1000 drops. For a while, then, his mind was healthy and
healed, and for a year he had peace and happiness. But
his self-control was unfortunately but temporary; and
for some time in 1817, on through 1818, and even into 1819,
he was again under the full dominion of the drug, rising
once more to his 8000 drops per dilem, or even sometimes
to 12,000 drops. This, accordingly, was the time of that
most intimate and tremendous experience of the opium-horrors
in his own case which he has descrilbed in part of his

Confessions. He had visions of "vast processions,"

"friezes of never-ending storlies ";recollections of the
Malay, jumbled'confusions of Egypt, China, and Hindostanj;
mazes and labyrinths of streets in lamp-11t London and
an endless groping for Ann of Oxford Street.

In 1819 he made a determined effect to lndulge
moderaﬁely, and he wés successful. In that same year he
was offefed by the Tories the edltorship of the
Westmoreland Gazette, which he accepted and -whlch had a
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steadylng effect on him, De Quincey entered into an arrange-
ment whereby he was to pay a sub-editor to carry on the
routine at Kendal, the home of the periodical, keeping

the surplus for himself for his leading articles and
supervising editorship from Grasmere. He had, furthermore,

engagements at this time with Blackwood's Magazine and

the Quarterly Review. Bub, as Japp says, he "was not born

for a successful newspaper editor." On the other hand,
it couldAnot}be said that he was wholly unsuccessful, even
by the standard of the Tory gentlemen at Westmoreland.

- But his edltorship of the Westmoreland Gazetté

came to an end in 1820, and from then on he was merely a
contributor. Not unnaturally his thought turned to
Edinburgh, where hls friend Wilson, now Professor of
Moral Philosophy, had since 1817 been the lord of
Blackwood's Magazine., So at the end of 1820 he is found

in Edinburgh, and in a letter to his wife thence,

dated December 9, 1820, he speaks of the cordial reception
he has had among his old Edinburgh friends. Nothing
definite, however,vseem,to have come of the visit, Wilson,
no doubt, did his best, but there may have been difficulties.
Therefore, De Quincej was back at his home in the Lakes.
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De Quincey, having tried and falled to
borrow more money from Wilson in Edinburgh, decided to
cast his fortune in the metropolis of London. But he
could not make up'his mind to live penmaﬁently in
London, for 1t was painful for him to be parted from
his wife and family. So for the next four years
(1821-1824) he continued to return for short wvisits to
Grasmere. It was not to Dove Cottage that he returned,
though, because his family had taken a slightly larger
house at Rydal, called Fox Ghyll, the propérty of John.
Simpson of the Nab, to accommodate the children, William;
Margaret, and.ﬁorace, and his wife.

When he lived in London, where he fdund
lodgings at Ybrk.Street, Covent Garden, he wrote feverishly.
At last he had settled down to the business of journalism,
which was to be inexorably his for the rest of his life.

His opportunity came when De Quincey, soon after arriving
in London, met Sir Thomas Noon . Talfourd, who introduced

him'to Messrs},Taylor‘and Hessey, the publishers

of the London Magazine. The result was a contract

which set the seal of De Quincey's career. His
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first contribution to the magazine was the Confesslons

of an English Opium-Eater. He wrote speedily, but this

speed was achieved at the price of large doses of laudanum,
which De Quincey found necessary to produce sleep, while
working at such high pressure.

The serialxpublications of the Confessions aroused

so much interest that Tajlor and Hessey brought out the
whole in book form in 1822. This edition was soon reprinted,
and in the same year a second appeared with an appendix
giving the author's account of the disintoxicatlion which

he had undergone in the summer of that year. Though the
little book caused considéfable exciltement by its novelty
and frankness, and Sir James Mackintosh wrote a letter
pfaising it, doubts were cast on its genuineness by the

poet.James Montgomery, and by the North American Review.

But if the Confessions brought him notoriety, he was

still acutely miserable. He seems to have disliked the
life of hard literary toll; and his separation from his
family was almost unbearable. He was unable to tolerate
or take pleasure in any sort of soclety. He was
disembarrassed and comforted, nevertheless, by occasional
visits to the Lambs;\there was a deepening in his friend-
ship with Charles Lamb.
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A In the summer of 1822, De Quincey found that in
order to work properly, he had to subject himself to a
rigorous system of disintoxication, of which he gives the

details in the Appendix to the third edition of the Confessiocnse.

His body, unfortunately, disturbed by this sudden change
of regimen, took 1ts toll in distressing symptoms of cramp
in the stomach, restlessness, lack of sleep, ulcerated
mouth, and violent and continuous sngezing. In the end,
hdwever, this effort brought its reward in a greatly increased
ebility to concentrate on work and to get new 1ideas.

De Quincey's éffairs,at the beginning of 1825,
were reaching a cdmplex crisis. His debts'had become so
pressing that he found it necessary almost to go into hiding,
changing his lodgings frequently to evade hls creditors.
His mother wrote to him in. January and said thet she was
then prepared to give him an allowance of 100 1 a year;
it is not known, but probable, that De Quincey accepted
this offer,"A friend indeed" turned up in the person of
Charles Knight, an editor aﬁd publisher, who was then

founding Knight's Quarterly Magazine, to which he invited

De Quincey to contribute. The connection of De Quincey

with the ILondon Magazine seems to have ceased after 1824,




- as a result of Taylow!s and Hessey's arrangements at the
time for quitting the propietorship. But the opium-
eater contributed only two important pieces, meanwhile
living some months in Knight's house and astonishing the -
master and his servants with his eccentricities. A good
deal of De Quincey's time 1nAthe year 1825 was taken up
with a translation of a German novel, Walladmor, for Taylor
and Hessey. | |
‘ Andvéo, from 1821 to 1825, or between De Quincey!'s
thirty~-seventh and his forty-first year, we have _the first
burst of his magazine articles and cognate publications.

| In November, 1825, Wilson wrote to the opium~-
eater solioiting his collaboration on the Qnarterlz Review

which was about to change hands from John Coleridge to
Lockhart. His contributions were in the form of assisting
Wilson to write a review of Brown and Welsh's lectures
on psychology. Wilson ends the letter in an apologetic and
friendly ‘tone, realizing that an offer of this kind might
seem impertinent.

The letter was followed, however, a year later,
by an offer of a more substantial kind, namely, what De

Quincey seems to have hankered after: a return to the



20

staff of Blackwood's. De Quincy went to Edinburgh in

the autumn of 1326, to make a fresh start in the pages
~of Maga., o

" Through the years 1827-1829 we find him quite
as much inlEdinburgh as at Grasmere. He was, of course,
no stranger there. And Carlyle and De Quincy met at the
house of one of Wilson!s friends; Cgrlyle shows his
interest in De Quincy by his long letter of December 11,
1828, inviting De Quincy and his wife to visit him and
his wife at Craigenputtock. |

Carlyle sheds considerable light on the change

of De Quincy's person. In the former's Reminlscences

he glves an impression of him which, fuﬂdmamentally contem~-
tuous though 1t is, lays just emphasis on the man premature-
ly aged by pain, by pfolonged anxiety and sorrow, and by the
deceptions of a gentle romanticlsm.

He was a pretty little creature, full
of wire-drawn enthuslasms, bankrupt
pride; wlth the finest slilver-toned
low voice, and most elaborate gently-
winding courtesies and ingenuitises
in conversation: "What wouldn't one
give to have him in a Box, and take
him out to walk! A bright ready and
melodious talker; but in the end an
inconclusive and long-winded. One of
the smallest man figurses I ever saw;
shaped like a palr of tongs; and
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hardly above five feet in all: when
he sat, you would have taken him, by
~candle light, for the beautifullest
- 1ittle child; blue-eyed, blond-haired,
sparkling face,-- . . . . His fate,--
. owlng to opium, etc.--was hard and
sore; poor fine-strong, weak creaturs,
launched so into ‘the "literary career
of ambition, and mother of dead-dogs ' (18)
This would not have been an accurate picture of
De Quincey 'in 1816.
De Quincey's troubles were still clinging to
him. Although he was making a hardy income, it was
not enough to support a man of letters in Edinburgh and
his wife and young ones 1n the ‘vale of Grasmere., Both
De Quincey and his wife were averse to the idea of 1eav1ng
Grasmere; but at ‘length, 1n 1830, apparently on the
spur of some new offer of,literary engagement in
Edinburgh, the resolution was taken. It was precipitated
by the advice of the sympathetic and sensible Dorothy
Wordsworth.
The literary industry of De Quincey in the

period 1830-1840 is represented mainly by the 1list of

his continued contributions to Blackwood's and by a

18. -Sackville-West, op. cit., pp. 152-153.
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series of contributions to another Edinburgh monthly,
called Tait's Magazine. In Blackwood's for 1831 appeared

Dr. Parr and his Contemporaries, or Whigglsm in 1its

Relations 32 Literature; in the same magagine, under

the title of The Caesars, there was begun, in October,

1832, a series of articles on Roman history. There
was then an ihterruption of four years; but in July

1837, appeared'the long narrative, Revolt of the Tartars,

which was followed in'1838_by The Household Wreck and

Modern Greece, and in 1839 by Casuistry and Dinner,
Real and Reputed. The year 1840 was marked by the

prbduction of the series of papers entitled The Essenes,

‘the articles entitled Alleged Plagiarisms of Coleridge

and Modern Superstition, and the series on Style and

Rhetoric. Meanwhile Derthncey had been contributing
also to Tait's. |

Itvwas in February, 1834, just at the time of
the break with Blackwood's, that Tait's began to astonish

1ts readers by Sketches of Life and Manners from the

Autobiography of an English Opium-eater. The series

ran on, sometimes with explanatory sub-titles, through
the rest of 1834 and through 1835, and 1836, and, even

after the connection with Blackwood's was resumed in
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1837, Talt was able to entertain its readers for three
more years with new instalments of the same. The
Sketches, indeed, extending over about thirty articles
in éii;‘contain that Autobiography of De Quincey, the
republished portlions of which in the English edition

of his collected works form, together with the Confessions,

the most frequently read volumes of the collection.
No portions of the series attracted greater attraction
at the time, or excited more wrath in certain quarters,
than the'digressions upon the recently dead Coleridge
gnd the still 1iving Wordsworth and Southey.

. The average amount of De Quincey's contributions
to the two magazines jointly through the ten years
was about six articles every year., In 1835 and 1836
he wrote the asrticles Goethe, Pope, Shakespesre, and
Schiller, for the seventh edition of the Encyclofedia
Ez;hannina.l During the same period he produced one

of the only two specimens of his powers given to the

WOrld originally in book form. This was his Klosterheim,

ov the Masque, ‘a romance, published by E_ggknnndar
' ' De Quincey's domestic life in Edinburgh through

a period of such marked activity is striking in 1its
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considerable obscurity. We learn 1lnclidentally that
he was a guest in Wilson's home in @Gloucester Place
for some time continuously in 1830-31; we hear of a
large furnished'house or set of apartments in Greét
King Street taken for himself and his family in 1831;
we know of removals to Forrest Street and to the
viliage of Duddington.

But 1f he did not devote so much time to his
famlly, his affection was not wanting, and three
family bereavements fell with heavy effect upon him.
The first was the death by fever, in 1833, of De
Quincej's'youngest son, Julius, in the fifth year
of'age."The next was the death, in 1835, at the
age of not quite eighteen, of the eldest son, William.
Then, in 1837, camerthe}death of Mrs. De Quincey her-
éelf. "One can suppose," says Masson, f#hat he7§9?ad
not been the easiest or the happiest of lives.™.

De Quincey, left in his fifty-secondhyear with
six,childfen, must have had a difficult time. The

-eldest girl, Margaret, and the child next to her 1n age,

19. Masson, op. cit., p. 94.
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Horace, purposed to take a cottage called Mavis
Bush near Lasswade, about seven miles out of
Edinburgh, where they and the four younger ones
could live more economically than in town. This was
in 1840, From that time on the cottage at Lasswade
was his chief abode.

- He was located at Lasswade, but he was there
only when he chose. There was an attraction to Edinburgh
and also to Glasgow. For perhaps the greater part
of the two years from March, 1841, to June, 1843, De
Quincey was in Glasgow as the guest of one or the other
of two friends--J. P. Nichol, Professor of Astronony,
and E; L. Lushington, Professor of Greek. From his
return to Glasgow in June, 1843, he seems, with the
exception of a plunge now and then in some lodging in
Edinburgh, to have resided steadily at Lasswade. The
three sons, of whom Horace had dled, had: departed,
and De Quincey had to be with his three daughters as
much as possible. On the whole De Quincey's life on
the decline seemed more pleasant and more peaceful
than in former times. His son Francls returned soon

from Manchester, and De Quincey enjoyed his companion-
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ship. Then there were pleasant acquaintanceships
with some of the Lasswade neighbors ahd also with
friends and admirers who Journeyed to his home to see
him. |

Through 1848 and 1849 all the family were

together, although in 1847 De Quincey went to Glasgow
for some time.,

| As for his opium problem those days, there had
been ups and downs according to the vaerying degrees

of his suffering from his gastric ailment. The chief
crisis had been in the year 1844 . In some new excess
of accumulated wretchedhess, mental and physical, when
a horror of the most hideous blackness seemed once
more to engulf him, he had rioted agaln with the fiend
and exulted 1in 5000 daily drOps;‘ But again he mastered
a heroic effoft, and, with the allowance ranging from -
100 drops a day onwards, he had recovered in 1844

the faculty of living on.

During the years 1854 and 1855 De Quincey had

re-awakenings of old friendships. When Wilson died

in the former year, 1t was a considefable blow to

De Quincey. At his friend's death there came back
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visionSof a vibrant personallity who had 1népired him
again and again with the sheer lust of 11v1ng'and
who had revealed to him the joys of intimate friend-
ship in those fér off days_at Grasmere.

A last echo of his friendships with the
Wordsworths came to De Quincey in the news of Dorothy's
‘death, on January 25, 1855. vSeven'years previously, |
he had wriften.a letter of introduction to Wordsworth
for é young Greek called, Neocles Jaspis Mousabines.(ZO)
It is a stiff letter, though it ends "your faithful
friend and servant:";it expreéses what was necessary
to the occasion, and no more. The chapter was closed
forever. And so, when Dorothy Wordsworth died, De
Quincey, if he felt any emotion, at all events did
nbt reveal it. After all, while Wilson had been his
éonstanﬁ friend throughout the yeafs, Dorothy's influence
at the time of his youth now had grown. dim in his
mind. |

Japp's assértion that "the last ten years embrace

, . (21)
a period of quiet and steady activity" has to be

20. Japp, Thomas De Quincey, p. 268.
21, Ibid., p. 277.



-37-

qualified. DeQuincey's activity during this period was |
asisteady as his health and hablts would allow 1t to be,
but 1t was certainly not quiet, if by "quliet" 1is meant
freedom from nervous exhaustion, an amount of work suilted:
to his capacitj, and the sort of tranquillity conferred
by the easy sense of a well-spent life.  In this sense,
DeQuincey's activity was never qulet. For one thing,
his health, though free from the taut agonlies of the
opium erises, continued to give him every kind of trouble.
In 1852 he complained of suffering continually from a
stagnation of bléod in the legs, resulting in a torpor
so great that he was unable to hold a pen, whille thé
sensatlon was accompanied by a "frightful recurrence of
iong~ago imagery and veriest trifles of the past.!" (22)
Among his works of these later years were

Coleridge and Oplum-eating, The English Mall-coach,and

The Vision of Sudden Death, published in Blackwood); and

in Tait's magazine appeared Wordsworth's Poetry, On the

Temperance Movement, and Milton versus Southey and Landor.
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When the autumn of 1859 had come, and the
thirteenth volume of the Collected Works had been 1issued,

1t became evident that De Quincey'!s work in the world
was over. On Sunday, December 4, 1859, the approach of
death was so imminent that it was thought right to
telegraph for Mrs. Craig, who, with his youngest daughter,
aiready summoned from Ireland, were the only children
within reach. Mrs. Cralg arrived in time to be recognized
and welcomed; and on the morning of Thursday, Degember 8,
the two daughters standing by the bedside, and the
physician with them, De Quincey passed away. De Quinoey,
at the time of hls death, was seventy-four years and four
months old. v |
Unlike many other chlefs of literature, the
opium-eater's best works consist almost entirely of papers .
contributed to periodicals. Another characteristic of
his writings 1s their:extreme miltifariousness. The
large extent of ground covered and the most diverse of
subjects in a single work is enormous, and one gets the
impression of reading pleasant miscellanea of conversable
subjects. But his writings, so miscellaneous in their
collective range, are all, or almost all, of high quality;
this is noteworthy especially when one considers the

“quantity of bad magazine-writing in De Quincey's time.



De Quincey had a passion for scientific exactness, and
his numerical divisions and subdivisions, so unusual

in literary papers; are signs of the practiced thinker.
Masson tells us, too, that, "he had a teeming memory"
and quotes De Quincey!s words to the effect that he had
"a iogical instinet for feeling in a moment the secret
énalogies or parallellsms thatrcohnect things else
apparently remote." And so, Masson continues, there is
that quality of his thought called "richness or inven-
tiveness." "in.theAact of thinking anything, metonymies,
metaphors, anecdotes, illustrations, historical or
fantastic, sﬁart up in his mind, become incorﬁorate
with his primary thought, and are, in fact, its
language.” (e3]

‘The style of De Quincey, as might be expected,
is prevailingly inteliectuai. There 1s nothing fiery
about 1t, énd we are not hufried along, bu# become
éonscious instead of a beautiful style, unique in
intellectual nimbleness, light precision, and lyriecal

musice.

43. Masson, op. cit., p. 143.
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A good deal has been said abouF DeQuincey's stately
énd.elaborate phrasing, but 1t has generally been agreed
that, except for a few cases, this characteristic does
not lmpalr the quality of his writings, but makes 1%
more splendld. Thus, he could express his feeling for
the mysterious and the sublimé, an analyst, along with
Burton and others; of the sense of sorrow and melancholy.
This he relieves by his considerable vein of hﬁmor,
gometimes rolliéking, sometimes ironilcal, and sometimes
mischievous and spiteful. But he needed humor to
alleviate his essentially pathetlc and poetical mind;
htimor and pathos, we are told, sometimes are one.

80 1t 1s with such a man who became a master
of prose, smooth, elegant, and lyrical, that we are to
assoéiate the figures of Wordsworth, Coleridge, and
Southey. Of the affinity between DeQuincey and the last
two mentioned there is an intellectual rendez-vous,
whaﬁever thelir personal nstures had as points of difference;
Southey he did not find a person especlally receptive‘

to his litermry tastes, and vice versa.




It will be very interesting to note in thls paper the
dominance of the personal equation; although DeQuincey,
Wordsworth, and Coleridge were drawn to each other by
common impulses, there were sharp points of difference
in temperament and character which prohibited a lasting
communion of minds. For the fime that they influenced
one another, they provided mutual comradeshlp and-

mutual encouragement.



CHAPTER I1I

De Qpindey and Coleridge

| De Quincey had got as far as
Liverpool on whaﬁ was his first definite attempt to‘
reach the poet's home at Grasmere. ‘Twice also, he
' had advanced as far as the Lake of Coniston, but
‘hils courage had failed him. It was not until August,
1807, while visiting an acquaintance at Bristol, that
he called on Thomas Poole, & friend of Coleridge's,
in the hope that Coleridge might be in the vicinlty.
He surmised that if he could see Colerldge, an
introduction to Wordsworth might not be so difficult.
Poole received him genially and took him to
Alfoxden, where Coleridge had lived with Williem and
Dorothy Wordsworth in 1797-98; but Coleridge was away
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at Bristol. He took leave of Mr. Poole after receiving\
instructions for finding the house where Coleridge was
visiting, and noticed in riding through the main street
of Bridgewater a gateway which matched the description
given him. Under this was standing a man whose figure
was "broad and full" whose complexion was fair, and whose'
"eyes were large and soft in their expression." He
recognized him to be Colerildge.

I examined him steadfastly for a minute

or more; and it struck me that he saw
neither myself nor any other object in

the street. He was 1iIn a deep reverie;

for I had dlismounted, made two or three
trifling arrangements at an inn door,

and advanced close to him, before he had
apparently become conscious of my presencs.
The sound of my pé lce, announcing my own
name, first awoké: he started, and for a
moment seemed at & loss to understand my
purpose or his own slituation; for he re-~
peated rapidly a number of words which
had no relation to either of us.....This
l1ittle scene over, he recelved me with a’
kindness of manner so marked that 1t might
be called gracious. (1)

It seems singular that Thomas De Quindy should
in one breathless moment meet a man whd,,by hls quaint

perplexity and then by his innate fineness of spirit,

1. De Quinéy, Literary Reminiscances, Vol.l, p. 167.
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introduced him at once to'spiritual ideals and to the
imminent power'of opium. In this first meeting, then,
‘are to be found two forces combining to- ingrain them-
selves in-this young man's life: the great.inspiratiog
of a poet-philosopher; the drug, showlng that 1t tainted
even the cleanest of spirits,'énd warning him of its |
dread influence in his later life. | |
For about three hours he and De Quincy were
seated comfortably and talking,

And in the course of this performance

he had delivered many most striking

aphorisms, embalming more weight of

truth, and separately more deserving

to be themselves embalmed than any that

are on record. (2)

In the midst of this talk, in which De Quincy
seldom tried to interrupt and which did not leave any
openings for contributlon, the door opened, and
Sara Coleridge entered.:

She was in person full and rather below

the common height: whilst her face showed,

to my eye, some prettiness of rather a

commonplace order. Coleridge turned, upon

her entrance: his features, however, an-
nounced no particular complacency, and

v}
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did not relax into a smile. In a
frigid tone he said, whilst turning to
me,. "Mrs. Coleridge:" in some slight
way he presented me to her: I bowed;
and the lady almost immediately re-
tired. From this short, but ungeniadl.
scene, I gathered, what I afterward
learned redundantly, that Coleridge's
marriage had not been a happy one.. (3)

After relating occasions during which
" Mrs. Coleridge'!s ill temper displayed itself, he ex-
plains Coleridge'!s marriage to this woman.

Coleridge...assured me that his marriage
was not his own deliberate act; but was in
a manner forced upon his sense of honor,
by the scrupulous Southey, who lnsisted
that he had gone too far in his attentions
to Miss F s for any honorable retreat.
On the other hand, a neutral spectator of
the parties protested to me, that if ever
in his life he had seen a man under deep
fascination, and what he would have called
desperately in love, Coleridge, in relation
to Niss F » was that man. (4) :

It must have been this passage that particularly
hurt Southey, who prescribed a cudgel for the remarks. upon:

Mrs.«Coleridge, Bath milliners, and marital unhappiness.(5)

5. Ibid. po 176‘
4, Tbid. p. L79.

5. Ccarlyle, Reminlscences, p. S5i8.
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Fortunately, he had a pleasant time in spite
of tﬁe aﬁkward clrcumstances of thelr meeting, and
Coleridge treated him with_perfect courtesy. De Quincy
on being 1nvited'by Colerldge to a large dinner party the
next day, acéepted eagerly, anxiéus to see him under any
donditions. After this dinnef party at the houée of one
Mr. Chubb, "De Quincy felt so wrought up by the excite=
ments of the day that he decided to walk to Bristol
through the night." (6) This started the serles of
nocturnal walks which so invigorated his body and mind.
With his imagination drawn sharp by this stimilus, he
left to us vivid memoirs of commonplace events changéd
by his agile'turns of mind into'adventures. ,

In December, 1807, they met again at the\Bristol
Hot Wells, and a rather "happy cifcumstances méde-way for
an opportunity to meet Wbrdsworth, this time with company,

. (7)
so it would be much easier."

6. Sackville-West, Thomas De ouindy, p. 68.

7. Ibid, p, 68.
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After léaving Oxford, De Quiné& spent the rest
of the summer of 1808 ﬁostly in London, where hé was
"méking some attempt to study law, and keep his terms with
a view of belng called t§ the bar; but his real reason was

in such assocliations as. those he now formed with Charles
_ (8)
Larmb and Coleridge." He describes visits to both of

these distinguilshed writers; with Lamb at the India House
and at his home, and with Coleridge at the Couriler office
in the Strand.

Coleridge was at that time living
uncomfortably enough at the Courier
office, in the Strand. In such a situa-
tion, annoyed by the sound of feet pas-
8ing his chamber door continually to

the printing rooms of this great establish-
ment, and with no gentle ministrations of
female hands to sustain his cheerfulness,
naturally enough his spirits flagged; and
he took more than ordinary doses of
opium. I called upon him daily, and
pitied his forlorn condition. (9)

Thus remarks De‘Quiné& of the poet's life in the
Straﬁd commenting further on his friend's sad degradation

at that perlod of his life. Here we find:

8. Japp;'Thomas De Quingy, His Friends and Assoclates, P. 45.
[

9. De Quiné&, Literary Reminiscences, Vvols 1, .pp. 213-214.



48w

Thus unhappily situated, he :sank more
than ever under the dominion of oplum;
so that at two o'clock, when he should
have been in attendance at the Royal
Institution, he was often unable to
rise from bed. (10)

And . then again:

His appearance was generally that of

a person struggling with pain and over-
mastering illness, His 1lips were baked
with feverlsh heat, and often black in
color; and in spite of the water which
he continued drinking through the whole
course of his lecture, he often seemed
to labor under an almost paralytic in-
abllity to ralse the upper jaw from the
lower. In such a state it 1s clear that
nothing could save the lecture itself
from reflecting his own feebleness and
exhaustion, except the advantage of having
been precomposed in some happier mood.
But that never happenede.... (11)

The next dhénce he had of seeing Coleridge was

at the Lakes in the winte§ of 1809, and up to the autumn
(12

of the following year.. At this time Colerldge was

editor of The Friend, carrying out his duties in his home.

He saw him daily the greater part of the time. Coleridge
'was living with the Wordsworths in Grasmere, and De Quincey

10, Ibid., p. 214,
11. Ibid., p. 215.
12, Ibid., p. 216.
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now resided alsq in Grasmere, about a mile away, where
the latter had a cottage and a "conslderable library."
Gdleridge borrowed heavily from this library, so that
sometimes there were as many as five hundred books ab-
sent at one time. » _

| De Quindy comments significantly on Coleridge's
way of living ét this stage of théir-friendship. ‘

He was not now reduced to depend on "Mrs,
Bainbridge," but looked out from his
study windows upon the sublime hills
.of Seat Sandal and Arthur's Chalr, and
upon pastoral cottages at thelr feet;
and all around him he hears hourly the
murmuring of happy life, the sound of
female voices, and the lnnocent laughter’
of children. But, apparently, he was
not happy himself: the accursed drug
poisoned all natural pleasure at 1its
sources; he burrowed continually deeper
Into scholastic subtleties and meta=-
physlcal abstraction, and, like that
class described by Seneca, in the
luxurious Rome of his days, he lived
chiefly by candle-light. At two or
three o'clock 1In the afternoon he would
make his first appearance: through the
silence of the night, when all other
lights had long disappeared, 1in the
quiet cottage of Grasmere hils lamp might
be seen invariably by the belated trav?1e§.
13

13, 1bidv; pa 250,



Thelyeér 1810 was the year of the.éétrangement. 
between Wordsworth and Coleridge. This estrangement had
been maturing fér some time, “unknown to the iatter."(l4)
-Wordsworth had by now become convinéed of Céleridge'S.
incurable feebleness of will, his inability to finish
what he had begun, and his shilly-shall&ing method of
' conducting his 1ife. (15) |

"In the autumn of 1810, Coleridge left the Lakes;
‘and~--s0 fap as I am aware--for ever."(16) De Quiné&
ventures.in a somewhat inconclusive manher the cause and
immediate ocﬁasioh_forkhis‘dapafture: In the first
_place, "flashes of personallrecollections,'suddenly
restored and illuminated."(17) These recollections had,

in Coleridge's extremely sensitive state of mind, brought

"into collision the present with some 1Qng-forgotten past,

in a form too trying and too painful for endurance."(18)

14. Sackville-West, Thomas De Quindy, p..99.
15. Ibid., p. 9. o

167 %’!P* io3o

17, Ibid.p. 232.

18, Ibid.p. 232.
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In the second place, sometimes the

same decay came back upon his heart

In the more polgant shape of intima-

tion, and vanishing glimpses, recover-

ed for one moment from the paradise

of youth, and from the fields of joy

and power, over which for him, too

certainly, he felt that the cloud of

night had settled for ever. (19)

The iImmedlate occaslon for his departure was
the opportunity offered him to change his residence in
an unpainfullwéy. Mr. Basll Montague, a lawyer friend,
happened %o be returning to London with Mrs. Montague.
Mr. Montague asked him to London as their guest, and
Coleridge consented to go.

~ From Montague's Coleridge passed into anothéf
family, which De Quincy does not ‘mention otherwise than

m————

"Mr. and Mrs. M . Mr. M died shortly, and he
obtain@d lodgings eléeWhere.

In March, 1812, De Quincy left Grasmere for
London and stayed there till summer, mak;ng some pretence

of taking up legal studies.. He saw Coleridge regularly,

19. Ibido’ p. 235'
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almost every days "a?d sometimes we were jointly engaged
' _ 20)
in dinner parties.” In particular De Quin§§ remem-

bers one perty in which they met Lady Hamilton, "the
(21)
beautiful, the accomplished, the gnchantress!"

Between the years 1813 and 1815 De Quincy walked
on even grouhd. He lived with the ftranquillity of William
and Dorothy Wordsworth and of Dove Cottage, although he
absented himself frequently and went to London and Wrington.

His indulgence in opium had not yet reached "the stage -
- ' ' (22) :
where pleasure passes over into pain.” But Coleridge's

nerves were getting worse.

In August De Quindy wrote that the
poet was refusing to be seen, fling-
ing a note down the stairs to Mrs.
Morgan, his landlady, to the effect
that the gout had mounted to his
stomach and that if he were disturb-
ed or agitated it would speedlly
attack his brain. (23)

20: Ibid., p. 235-

21. Ibid,.

22. Sackville-West, op. cif., o. 105.
23. Ibid, |



A night or two later, though, Mrs. Morgan and

~her slster, looking out of the window and seéing smoke'

rolling'rqund'the corner of the street, vertured to call

Coleridge, who immediate%y "tripped downstairs with her
) 25 - ‘

as lightly as ever."

There is a considerable decline in the friend-

ship and companionship of;these two literary flgures after

the death of Mrs. M and the dissolution of the house-

hold.

I know not whither Coleridge went
Immediately: for I did not visit
London until some vears had elapsed.
In 1823-1824, I firat understood
that he had taken up hls residence
as a guest with Mr. Gillman, a
surgeon, in Highgate. He had then
probably reslided for some time at
that gentleman's; there he continu-
ed to reside on the same terms, I
believe, of affectionate friendshilp
with the members of Mr., Gillman's
family as he had made life endurable
to him in the time of the M 's;
and there dled on July 25, 1834 at
Highgate, at the age of sixty-one.(26)

25. Japp, Thomas De Quinéz, p; 133. .

26. De Quind&, Literégy\Reminiscences, vol. 3#.@-241-
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And so we come to the end of the chronological
events relating to the friendshlp between De Quincey'and
Coleridge. It remains now to cohtract the friendship ﬂ
between the two men and the alienation between De Quincéy
and the Coleridge family.

When the two kindred spirits met, friendship
was spohtaneous. De Quincey was then tWenty-two, the poet
thirty-seven. Coleridgé had the knack of making friends
by hia»graciousness, his modesty, and his eése of conver-
'sation. Aftef formal introductions were over and small
mﬁfteré arrangéd,‘

Coleridge, like some great rlver,
the Orellans or the St. Lawrance, that
has been checked and fretted by rocks
or thwarting islands, and suddenly
recovers 1ts volume of waters, and its
mighty muslic--swept at once, as if
returning to his natural business, Into
a continuous strain of eloquent dis-
sertation, certainly the most novel,
the most finely illustrated, and tra-
versing the most spacious, flelds of
thought, by transitious the most just
and logical, that it was possible to
concelve.(27)

- 27, Ibid., p. 169.
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There can be no doubt that at the initial

phase of thelr companiohsh;p.De Quinéy édmired Coleridge
for his\intgllectual,attainments, goodneés of manners,
and advanced knowladge‘of human nature. Coleridge, on
the other hand, was éttracted to De Quincy the lad be-
cause the latter had a certaih fervor, an undimiﬂished
sincerity,\and éagernéss‘of'purpose and fubeillment
which Coleridge felt somewhst lacking in himself.

| After this first meeting and its charms, a
second instance of De QuinCy'é show of friendship for
Coleridge was evident in his gift of 300 1. In the
autumn of 1807 he had returned to Bristol,-found.Coleridge
in financial straits, and concelved a plan in eséénée good
but In later consideratiohs faulty. A%t that time he ap-
proached ﬁbseph Cottle; Bristol publisher and personal
friend of the poet, and asked him whether Coleridge would
accept 100 1 or 200 1l as a gift by an anonymous donor.
Coleridge at first was offended, but he became more re-

_ceptive in his letter to Cottle the following day.
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Coleridgé finally declded to take the sunm offered, which
at De Quincey's insistence had riseﬁ to 500 1, but only
as a loan. dCottle, knowing how wasteful and improvident‘
the poet was, seemed to have had some twinges of consclence
over his responsibiiify in the affair,."(28) Coﬁﬁ;e there-
with intimated thet & sum smaller than 500 1 would be suf-
ficlent; De Quincey settled on 300 1. Thls debt was never
repaid him. be Quincey must have afterwards recognized'
the useleséness-df this action, for he wrote: "in étrict
horaiity,..it was wrong: it was an act.notvfor my fortune
nor for my situation....(29) o

| Nevértheless; whether this measure was right
or not, the downright sincerity and ‘affection of the donor
for the recelver, seems unquéstionable.

Another evidende of friehdship between the two

men, this time of mutual attachment, is seen in their
meetings in London at the offlce of the Courier,vin the

Strand.

28, Sackville-West, op. cit., D« 76,
29. Coleridge, Unpublished Letters, iéﬁf&if{:p;7bl3J -
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Coleridge at this time really valued De Quin'cfy as a
friend who oould bolster his failing spirite; He was
'111 andloverworked, and his.over-use of opium accompan-
led by his 1nability to produce interesting lectures in
that nervous condition in which he was, rendered him in
need for enoouragement. “hen he wrote to De‘Quinéb he
felt freer to express his deeper emotions than when he
wrote to his older friends. "It would have been indeed
far, farlbetter7for me," he ﬁrltes,‘"in some little
degree perhaps for society--1f I could have attached
more importance, greaﬁervwarmth of feeling to.my own
wriﬁihgs. But I have not been happy enough for thaﬁ.SSO)
A During the year 1810 Wordsworth, Coleridge,
Southey, and De Quiné& were having social intercourse
with one another. Goleridge spent the greater part of
1810 at Allan Bank, where he edited "with sighs and

(31)
groans and a complete_lack of method, " The Friend.

He saw De Quiné§~everyAday,’finding the latter!'s

library a great convenience.

30. Coleridge, Uggpblished Letters, yolke 1, P,423.

31. De Qnin%y, _g,vcit. p. 232
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This was also the year in which the estrange-
ment between Wordsworth and Coleridge took place, and
Coleridge spent more of his time with De Quincey as a
result of this parting of ways. |

One cannot help feeling, somehow, that 1t was
fortunate tha£ the estrangement between De Quincey and
the Coleridges did not take place during the poet's
lifetime. The issues in this quarrel are rather drawn
out and camplicated, dragging into the light various
detailé which are magnified and made bad, as well as
others which are rightly'argued over,

‘However, 1t 1s very curious fhat De Quincey,

as a result of vindictive feelings aroused by his quarrel

with critics of his Literary, Lake, end London Reminis-
cences, 1853, denles any real friendshlip with Coleridge.
In the former's note, placed at the end of volume two

of this work, he defends his stand on the matter of
Coleridge's plagiarism. One cannot help feeling that

his statements denying this friendship are extreme, to say
the least, and contradictory to the relations between the
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two people through the year 1813. He writes:

I must inform the reader that I was
not, nor ever had bveen, the friend

of Coleridge in any sense which could
have a right to restraln my frankest
opinions upon his merit. I never

had lived In such intercourse with
‘Coleridge as to glve me an opportunity
of becoming his friend. To him I -owed
nothing at all: but to the publiec,

to -the body of hls own readers, every
writer owes the truth, and especilally
'on a subject so important as that
which was then before me. (32)

Another clue to De Quincey's vindictive feelings
is found in the following passage, in which, as is paralleled
in the case of Wordsworth, he indlcates that Coleridge had
meny friends, btut few intimate ones:

If, generally speaklng, poor Colerldge
had but a small share of earthly
prosperity, in one respect at least,

he was eminently favored by Providence,
beyond all men who ever herhaps have
lived, He found means to engage &
constant succession of sisters, brothers,
daughters, sons, from the hands of ‘
strangers attracted to him by no possible
impulses but those of reverence for his
intellect, and love for his gracious
nature. How, says Wordsworth -=-

32. De Quincey, g£ 2il 'pp. 241-242,



"How can he expect others should

Sow for him, reap for him, and at his call,
Love him, who for himself will take no
thought at allt"

How can he indeed? It is most unreasonable
to do so: Yet thls expectation, if Coleridge
ought not to have entertalned, at all events
he realized. Fast as one friend dropped off,
enother, and another succeeded; perpetual
relays were lald along his path in life, of
- Judicious and zealous supporters; who
comforted his days, and smoothed the pillow
for his declining 2ge....(33)

Sackville-West mentions five features of the

articles on Coleridge in De Quincey's Literafy; Lake, and

London Reminiscencg%)that were responsible for the bad
( :
feelings aroused; references ?o ?oleridge's marrlage and
35) :
Mrs. Colerldge's ungainliness, to the Wordsworth-
. (36) (37)
Montague imbrogllo;. the charges of literary plaglarism;

the accusat%on)of taking opium to produce luxurious
38

- (39)
"sensations; and. the revelation of the gift of 300 1.

33. Ibid.

34. Sackville-West, op. cit., p. 195.
35, De Quincey, Literary Reminscences, pp. 176 ff.

8. Ibid., pp. 236 £f.
37. Ibid., p. 158.
38, Ibid., p. 242.
39, Ibid., pp. 183-184.
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The same authority says that the main charge
against De Quincey 1s not the conclusion he draws, but
his "blurting."(40) Although the main substances of what
he says in the articles_are true and well-expressed, and-k
although lnaccuracies of detall impair the validity of
the skatcheé, the work is, bowever, true in its maln scope
and‘judgements. The above five features are the salient
ones, I believe, in this problem, but a few minor ones
could be added~-which I shall merely mentlon: the shy
caricatures on Coleridge's person; the lack of respect

undercurrent in the Reminlscences, the more because

Colridge had just recentlj died.

Considering De Quincey's reference to Colefidge's
marital relations, there are arguments both for and againét
De Quincey. The authoﬁ starts out by stating that it
appeared'to him Coleridgé‘s marriage had not besen & happy
one. But he begs the readers not to misunderstand,
denouncing Lord Byron's lie about the Bath milliners which

appeared in a lampoon directed against Southey.

40, ~Seckville-West, op. cit., p. 195.
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Byron had described both the latter and Coleridge as having
married "two milliners from Bath.! De'Quincey attested (41)
that Bfiétol, not Bath was their native city, and that
coﬁtrary to Byron's implications by using the term milliner,"
"Mrs, Coleridge was, in all circumstences of her mérried
1ife, a virtuous wife, and a conscientious mother." (42)
~ In contrast to this he mentioned Mrs, Coleridge's

discourtesy and bad temper, (43) her inability to understand
and appreciate her husband's genius,:. (44) and her jealousy
of and hostility to Dorothy Wordsworth. But in so far as
De Quincey makes a fairly objectlive analysis of her virtues
as well as her shortcomings, he 1s on solid ground, In
stressing more her shortcomings than virtues,'and in
blurting, though, De Guincey deserves some censure.

| - His referencegto the Wordsworth-lMontague inbroglio
were not in themselves unfalr to Colerldge except in briﬁging

thls very personal incident before the reading public. -

41, De Quincey, Literary Reminiscences, vol. I, pp. 176-177,

42, Ibid., p. 177.
43. Ibid.
44. i Ibid‘
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The occasion of the guarrel between Wordsworth
and Coleridge was the fatal remark made by Worq%orth to
Basil Montague, who had invited Coleridge to stay with
him in London, that the latter was a Mperfect nuisance”
in the house, coupled with no less distUrbing opinion
that he had "rotted out his:entrails with drugs."(45)

The presentation of this circumstances by Be Quincéy
-reflacted badly on Coleridge. |

As evidence of De Quincey's“impertinent indis-
cretion,"(46) it can bs shown how he made matters even
worse by adding to the Montague story that the barrister
was entertaining one Captain Palsey to dinner and wine,
which'beverage~Mohtague‘forbade in his house. The con-
ﬁention of the Coleridge famlly was that episodes like
'this were none of his business, and thgy were probably
right from thesr side of the matter; but for the purpose
of entertainment and impish humor té be left for the reading
audience, material such as this 1s choice. On these grounds

alone, however, can De Qulncey recelive any vindication from

this charge.

45, Iblid., pp. 179-180.,
46, Sackville-West, Thomas De Quincey, p. 196.
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As for De Quincey's accusation of litcrury
plagiarism by Coleridge, not made in a hostile spirit
pafticularly, 1t ia defective. Admitting thet borrowing
from other writers is all right, so long as it is acknow=
ledged, De Quincey points out a "few of Coleridge 8 une
acknowledged obligations." (47) He accused Color;uée ol
taking from Frederica Brun the essence of his "Hyﬁn to
Chamouni," declaring that the Enslish ﬁoet merely e:ipanded
8 short poém from the German woman'ﬁoet; he claims to have
discovered in Coleridge's wriﬁings traces of Milton,
 Schelling, and Shelvozke~~this all in Tha &ﬁgignt_marinﬁr.'
| Although De Quincey exﬁlains‘that Coleridge really had no
need to borrow,(48) he contends that Colerldge did 1lnjustice
to writers from whom he bofrowed. However, apart from one

~instance, in an essay in Biogpgphia Litoraria, a disserta-

tion on the reciprocal relation of the Fase and the

QQ@itanm is a translation, unacknowledged, from Schelling. (49)

47, ]je Quj_ncey, Literary. ‘F?eminiscenc.es, vol. !, np. 158 ff,
. A - '

438, Ibid. ps 162.

49, Ibid. pp. 161=-162.
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Coleridge added so much of his own that the:cyarge of
plaglarism has not much ground. . \

De Quincey's references to Coleridge and opium
were obviously a means df retaliation for De Quincey.
The Lake poet had charged De Quincey with spreading opium-
eating by his works. When Gillman's Life revised the con-
troversy between the De Quincey and Coleridge factions,
the former brought out a work called Coleridge and Opilum-
Eating, (1845). In this he points out that "there was a
good déal more glass in Coleridge's house than in De
Quincey's."(50) .He thinks that opium killed Coleridge
the poet but made Coleridge the Philosopher; and he
‘eﬁpressés resentment against the latter's boast of being
able to arouse himself easlly and fapidly from intoxica=-
tion. A propos of_this article, he wrote angril& to Hogg
in 1859:  "This is a descriptlon of S. T. C.'s person,
not only accurate, but the sole accurate among many tpat
are libelloﬁsly félse--drawn from my own knowledge,

‘guaranteed defyingly by myself and

50, Sackville-West, op. cit. p. 196.
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éure to give pleasure in mahy quarters.'(51)

That Coieridgé was a.more ravenous opium-eater
than De Quincey we have reported us by Richard Woodhouse.
"The'OpiumTEater was speaking to a surgeon in the north,
a neighbor of Coleridge's, who supplied Coleridge with i
laudanum, and who, upon a calculationvmade as to quantity
consumed by Coleridge, found it to amount to 80,000 drops
per day."

"The Opium-Eater said that he himself once, at
the time when he was taking 8,000 drops per day, but when
he was not in the habit of measuring what he took, was
in some danger from the quantity he had takén.“(sz)

In looking at the controversy from the side of
De Quincey, he may be defended because he was aiming at
reteliation to Coieridge's accusation.

| The objection of the Coleridges to De Quincey's
300 - 1, which loan was revealed in his Literary, Lakes and

London Remininscences,(63) is referred to in such a sketchy

menner in this book that anyone not familiar with the details
of the story would not have much of an lnea of the source

and consequences of the loan. So De Quincey might

51, Japp, Ihbmas,Dé-Qninggy, P. 356, |
52, Woodhouse, Notes of Ganxarﬂaﬁign With Thomas De Qninnexépa 83
53. De Quincey, hileraity, Bemihisceéndes, le;-i) pp. 183-184,
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stand acquitted on this charge.
’ De Quinéi\; must have forseen that some parts
of his essays>onIColeridge would not be taken in good
faith, and therefore he writes an explanation concern-
ing the rather frank tone of his sketches on Coleridge.
on the whole, I can- sympathize with both
pérties in thils controversy, for the Coleridge family
and friends justly decried asperions on their beloved
one; as for De Quiné&, he with his journalistic manner,
bespeaking sensatlonalism and pokes of humor, did not
wish to show’disrespect. 'Rather, we get a bstter under-

standing of Coleridge, the man, as he really was.



CHAPTER III

De Quincey and Wordsworth

-A Diary of Thomas De Quincey, edited by Horace A.

'Eaton, 1927, is vaiuable meinly for two reasons: 1t shows
his newly acquired objective view of looking at others,
apd it deais with‘his literafy preéccupations. fAmong the
réﬁelationé in this Diary is that of two separate drafts
of his first letter to Wordsworth. It is significant to
note that De Quincey had been screwing up hié courage for
some time, for the draft 1s dated May 13 and the letter
1tself May 3l. |

This letter is of extreme interest because it dis=-
plays De Quinéey's a@aleécent mind in the year lBOSjWhen
he was but'seventeen.  Involved and pepetitious in its
urgent desire to drive home its burden, it must have
moved Wordsworth., The last paragréph of this letter

summarizes his essential ideas. (1)

1., Sackville - West Thomas De Quince s P. 53, quoting
from the Wordsworth Collection. JThis 1s the letter:
which Japp thought had been lost. The dots herein
are De Quincey's owne v : ,
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I cannot say anything more than
that though you may find many minds more
congenial with your own...and therefore
proportionately more worthy of your regard,
you will never find any one more zealously
attached to you--more full of admiration
for your mental excellence and of reveren-
tial love for your moral character--more
ready (I speak from my heart!) to sacrifice
even his life...whenever it could have a
chance of promoting your interest and hap-
piness=-than he who now bends the knee
before you., And I will add that, to no
man on- earth except yourself and one other
(a friend of your's) (2) would I Thus lowly
and suppliantly prostrate myself..

Dear Sir!
Your's for ever,
‘Thomas De Quincey.
Wordsworth, concelted but kindly and prudent,
must have been alarmed at the spectacle of a boy willing
bto sacrifice e&en his 1life." He assures his admirer
ih his reply:

: My friendship in not in my power to
give, this 1s a glft which no man can
make; it is not in our own power. A
sound and healthy frlendship 1s the

"result of time and circumstance; it will
spring up and thrive like a wild-flower
when these fldfiish, and when they do
not it is in vain to look for it. (3)

2. Coleridge.
3. Japp, Thomas De Quincey: His Eriends and Assoclbtes, p. 42.
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Wordsworth thew proceeds to caution the youth
against neglecting the older writers for himself, and
édds that he is abéut ready to depart on a Scotch tour
with Dorothy and Coleridge. He closes‘with a warm
Invitation to visit him at Grasmere.

This letter of reply should have'imparted to
Thomas that Wordsworth was not a man who gave freely
his human affections; he should have gathered that nothing
good would come out of too great an admiration for the
nature-poet. But in a few days we find him'(4) writing
another letter .to him, a much longer one, in which he
expresses pleasant surprise at having receivéd an answer.
He apopogizes for his indiscreet impetﬁosity of his
remarks on friendship, explains that he }Joves the works
of the older writers as well as those of Wordsworth,
regrets that he cannot visit the latter because he is
about to move into Oxford, and he concludes by entreating

Wordsworth not to write to him solely out of considera-

tion for himself (De Quincey), but whenever he felt

4, Japp, Thomas De Quincey: His Friends and Associates,
Pe 42, - : o
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disposed. This made 1t easier for Vordsworth, who walted
 eight months before writing again to the youhg man.

Life at Oxford proved quite solitary for him, and
"one of the chief pleasures in his life was the receipt
of letters from Wordsworth, The next 1s dated Grasmere,
March 6, 1804." In it Wordsworth writes:

I am anxious to hear how far you

are satisfied, and, above all, that you

have not been seduced into unworthy

pleasures and pursuits,--and further,

I have much anxiety on this head, for a

gincere concern for your welfare and ths

melancholy retrospect which forces

Itself upon one, of the number of men

of genius who have followed beneath the

evils that lurk theres...(5)

It would not be surprising if wordsworth were
darkly hinting at Coleridge and his degrading malady.
At any rate, he seems perfectly sincere, and 1t aprpears
that Wordsworth was not ungenerous in writing letters
to an obscure youth to whom hardly anyone gave much
heed; for a well-known person to write voluntarily to
one of much lesser note is not in itself very unusual,

but still Wordsworth is to be commended for it.

5. Ibid., pp. 42-43, quoting Wordsworth Collection.




 But De Quincey "from mere excess of nervous dis-
trust in my own powers forAsustaining a conversation
with Wordsworth . . . for nearly five years shrdnk from a
meeting for which, beyond all things under heaven" (¢
he longed. Twice he had advanced as far as the Lake of
Coniston, about'eight_miles from the church of
Grasmbre,.and once he had gone within View of the vale
of Gfésmeré, but, "catching one hasty giimpse of this
:1oveliest of iandséapes, I retreated like a guilty
thing, for fear I might be surprised by Wordsworth,
and then returned faint-heartedly to Conniston, and so

(7)
to Oxford, re infecta.”

| In 1807, within a short time, De Quincey realized
his hopes of seeing both Coleridge and Wordsworth. In
December, when De‘Quincey met Goleridge for the second
time at the Bristol Hot Wells,va bit pfkchance gave
De Quince& another opportunity to raid Wordsworth's

retreat, this time in company which would make 1t much

‘6. De Quincey, Literary Reminiscencesijol. 1, pe B65.

7. Ibid.
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easier for him, Mrs. Coleridge was on her way north,
about to travel wlth her three chlldren, Dorothy,
' Derawent, and Sara Coleridge to visit Wordsworth and
spéy for a time at the hbme of Southeﬁ, at Keswlck.
Coleridge, however, had his lectures to ﬁake at the
Royal Iﬁstitution, in London; and he was unable to
take them. De Quincey offered himself as escort and
was graﬁefully accepted.

De Quincey's reactlons to his first meeting with
Wérdsworth are rather touching. %I heard a step, a
voice, and, like a flash of lightening, I saw the figure
emerge of a tallish man, who held out his hand, and
saluted me with the most cordiél manner, and the warmest
eipression of friendly wélcome, that it is possible to
imagine." ° Stunned by the culmination of an event so
long planned for'and'feared, De Quincey in mechanf@i move-
ments went into the hbuse, But he was immediately put

at ease by Mrs. Wordsworth, benign, frank, and natural

8. Ibid, p. 272.
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Notwithstanding this, 1t was Dorothy Wordsworth

who made the profoundest impression upon him, and his classic

description of the poet!s sister is one of the high points

of hié prose.

Her eyes wsere not soft, as lrs. wordsworthts
nor were they fierce or bald; but they were
wild and startling, and hurried in their motion.
Her manner was warm and even ardent; her sen-
sibility seemed constitutionally deep; and some
subtle fire of impassioned intellect apparently
burned within her, which, being alternately
pushed forward into a consplcuous expression...
gave to her whele demeanor and to her conver-
gation, an air of embarrassment and even of
self-conflict, that was sometimes distressing

to witness.(9)

Coming to Wordsworth himself, we find De Quincey!'s

Impression confused by the fact that he compares his,

impressions of the Lake poset as he first saw him and as

he appeared to him at the time of writing, which was

1839. There emerges, however, the long crude, indi-

genous face of the Border country, together with a " a

fine, sombre complexion...resembling that of a Venetian

(10)

senator of a Spafuish lonk."

S. Ibid., p. 276,

10. Ibid., p. 280.
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He judges Wordsworth, "on the whole, not a well-
made man." "His legs, he thinks, are bad-looking; but the
worst parﬁ of wordsworth's figure was his bust, for there
was a narro?neis and a dfoop about the shoulder which became
12 . : _ |
striking."”. . . He asserts, though, that his face was one
"which would have made amends for greater defects of
figure; it was certainly the noblest for intellectual
effect that, in actual life, I h?ve)seen, or at least have
_ , . 13 '
consciously been led to notice."
As for the'Wordsworthé, the impression De Quincey
made upon them is indicated by Dorothy in a letter to
'~ Lady Beaumont, |
He is a remarkable and very interesting
young men, very dimlnutive 1in person,
which, to strangers, makes him appear
insignificant; and so modest, and so very
shy, that even now I wonder how he ever
had the courage to address my brother by
letter.’ (14)
The Coleridgesﬂleft after dinner the next day,
but De Quincey'was prevailed'upon to stay longer., It is
plain that in spite of his painful self-consciousness De
Quincéy enjoyed the company of the Wordsworths and 1andscape)

life, and people of the Lake region. Leaving Mrs. Coleridge and

12, Ibid.
13. Ibid., pe. 283.

14. Ibid., quoting from De Selincourt, Ddrothz Wordsworth, p. 316




hor children, Do fuinaoy aond Wordaworth walked to Pemith,
and that ovenlng tho poot road “fhe ¥hite Doe of Rylstond!
oloud. The next day, Wordsworth, wino had some business
to attond to left De Quineég to prosced alone to Southeyls,
at Creta Holl, FBoswick, He returned to Srasmere two days
lator, elong with Mre Wordsworth, who had followed him to
Xendnls The nicht-ride, ooming 68 an ond £0 such n mome
orable visit, stirrod hin strengoly.
He knew that the visit to Grasmoro vas
- for him the beginning of & new life, ile had
ontered a now world, into whileh for yeare
and bocuty as yot wisuapadted by other wen

.

Toward the end of the year 1808 the friendship botwecn
né-Quinﬁey.and the Wordsworths entered upon o now phnSo.
Dorothy end her Lrotic: had now found Dove Cottage too
smell for e growing family and moved inko Allan Danlte
It was at allan Bonk thet De Guincey ocame to stay. "Hlo
‘sorrespondence with Dorothy has oreatod a sonse of\ééae
and trust hﬁﬁweeﬁ‘them; 7illiem wis sbill bis jdoly Yro.«
Wordsworth and her slater, Sura Hutchinson, who followed

tho lead of Willlen and Bvrcﬁhy; continued to regerd hin

1

16« Hacloan, Dorothy Wordswortlh, p. 260,
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. with placid approval," He was becoming increasingly

fond of the children of the household, making his fav-
orites Johnny, five years, and Catherinc, one month
old. He seemes to have a special talent for getting
along well with children.

So delighteéd was’Dé Quincey with the scenery of
Grasmere and by the company of the Viordsworths that he
decided to take a lease of Dove Cottage, which had stood
empty since thé Wordsworﬁhs vacated it._vIt was'stiil
their porpert§; and he returned to London in February,
1809, while Dorothy managed necessary interlor repalrs
and made the cottage ready for his rseturn.
| Those portions of the spring, summer, and autunn pf
1809 whicthe Qﬁincey spent away from Grasmeme are laced
together by a busy correspondence with Dorothy, and a still
busier and more volﬁhinous one with Wordsworth himselif.

Put his chief concern in this time was Wordsworth's

pamphlet on The Convention’of Cintra, which De Quincey

\

17. Backville-ijest, Thomas Le Quincey, p. 84.
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had undertsken to revise, punctuate, and see through the
press while he was in London. It is raﬁher cdmplimenfary
to De Quincey that Wordsworth should have turned to him

tp edit one of his works; in 1814 Wordsworth was agpin

fo turn to De Quincey for advise about the poem "Ifodamis,"
and sought out his detailed criticism.(18) Although |
Wordsworth was truly satisfled by the pfoduction of their
joint labor on this pamphlet, he had no cause to be
pleased with 1ts reception.

'In November, 1809, he at leat entered into pos-
seséibn of Dove Cottage, and he was filled ﬁitﬁ.happiness.
He had sufficient money for his needs, he was living dlbse
to the Wordsworths and the friends he had made in the Lake
district, and hls health, though it required the support
and stimulus of opium, (19) was improving greatly. He had
asifriehds the Wordsworths, Coleridge, Charles Lioyd, John
Wilson; and Robert Southéy, besides a number. of acquain-
‘tances-of whom he gives an entertalining acpount in the series

of articles entitled The Society of the Lakes.(20) The mile of road

18, Japp, De Quincey, p. 135.

19. Sackville-West, op. cit. p. 95.

20. De Quincey, Literary Reminiscences, :vok.ll, ppibb5<256;



from his own_cottage'to WordSworth's house of Allan Bank

was his familiar walk .morning and eﬁening'from the first,

_for the sake of Wordsworth's society, and also of Coleridge's,
so long as doleridge, bu$y in bringing out hils Friend,
remalned Wordsworth's guest.” (24)

But 1810 was the year of the Wordsworth-Coleridge
estrangement; even thouéh they were rebonciler a few years
v»later by Crabb Robinson, the reconcilatibn was little more

than a formal one. More and more, it seeﬁs, after 1810,

when Coleri&ge took final departure from the ILakes, there
was éﬂgradual waning of friendship between De Quiné% and
Wordsworth. They were still much together, Wordsworth still
consulting Dé Quiné& about his'poems. But " whether because
Wordsworth 1h his self-absoption found De Quiné&!s compan-A
fonship unnecessary, or becauée De Quiné& felt his nerves
‘jafred by Wordsworth's habitual susterity and masculine
hardness,.there came at length to be.some degree of mutual

(e2)
alienation."” This was recompensed somewhat by Dorothy

21l. Masson, Thomas De Quincey,'p.'94.
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VWordsworth's liking for De Quincey and by the gfowing at-
tachment to him of Wordsworth's children, by whom he was
' cailed "Kinsey." FHe was soon to have deep grief over
Catherine Wordsworth?s death, which occurred on June 4, 1812,
Infact, one wpuld suspect him of exaggerating his concern
for the child if he did ﬁot fake into consideration the
fact that hefloved children intensely and that he had no
childreﬁ of his.own. The letters which he wrote to Corothy
on this ocCasion are proof enough of the vioiénqe of his
grief. Crabb Robinson was.with him wheh'hé met Vordsworth
in London, just after the tragedy, and records that De Quincey,‘
»ovércome by the pathos of the circumstances, bufét into tears
at the sight of the poet. But, as usual, it was Dorothy to
whom he turﬁed_in order to confide his grief,

His mind, thus encdued with an excessive sensibility,
sought an éscape,into symbolism and art by means of which
he was to effecﬁ a catharsis on the spirit. Thus the real
Catherine, as De Qulncey had known her and had clasped in
his arms, melted gradually into a beautiful image. "I

suffered an unaccountable attack of nervous horror
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lasting for five months, and went off in one night as

unaccountably as it had first come as in one second of

pime." (23)vThis he wrote to liiss MNitford, describing

a similar attack in 1846. The symptoms were the same

and left hiﬁ in the same abrupt way, '"suddenly with a

nervous sensation of.sickness," says Japp.(24)

| Buf then the agony, once purged cleznly, was

 not renewedf When later in the-éame year Thomas Wordsworth

died of the measles, De Quincey did not show mﬁch erotion.
However, the effect of these deaths upon his life

are not to be. regarded as light. "The mental strain im-

. posed by the shock and the subsequent grief was responsible

for a sudden increase in the nervous dyspepslia which,'

though by now chronic, had rerained in a state of stabil-

ity éinée 1809.“(25) Consequently, there followed an

lncrease in the dose'ofﬁlaudanum which caused "the ex-

treme of stress and pa‘n in 1E17 and 1318, |

The year 1818 also brought unfortunate tidings.

He had stomach trouble; he had been left all but penniless by

25. Sackville-Vest, op. cit., (10ted t' arein on p. 105.

24. Japp, De Quincey Memorials,- ¥ol. L,ip 129,

25. sackville-West, op. c¢it., p. 105.



the fallure of a small business in which his capital had
been invested; he soon reached 8,000 drops of laudanum
per day (320 grains of solid opium). Three thousand drops
would f£111 about seven ordinary wine glasses, For a year
or two ﬁftef 1é13 he tried to quiet his restless.soul by
rambles, He was several times in London and Sameréetshire,
‘seeing less and less of Wordsworth;‘it seemed that thelr
friendship was on the decline, although this was not
‘noticeable in the relations between the opium~-eater and
Dorothy. He was in Edinburgh with Wilson in the winter of
1814-1815.,

At the end of the year De Quincey weturned to
Dove Cottage, where he married Margaret Simpson in 1816.
This marriage was to prove its unfortunate stain on the
relation between the Wordsworths and his mother, the latter
- thinking his wife to be fla”stupid heavy gifl," as Dorothy
writesfzs?The year 1816,-a1though De Quincey called it para-
doxically,'the best year of his 1ife, was a year of increased
isolation from his general society. He admits, though, that

at the same time it was but a parenthesis between years of

26. Letter to Mrs. Clarkson of February 15, 1817. Quoted
' . by De Selincourt, Dorothy Wordsworth, p. 304.




(27)
unparalleled gloom.

With this disruption of friendship between De
JQuincey and Wiliiam Wordsworth, we come to en end of the
assoclations between the two parties. Next under
corment will come a study of this friendship, to be
followed by that of their estrangement, and by that of
De Qﬁincey and Dorothy Wordsworth,

From the very beginnlng De Quincey was cautioned
against holding too high the value of Wordsworth's friend-
ship, the latter having ninted by the tone of his first
letterlof reply that his capaclity for human affection was
a limited one. But, naturally, the youngster of eighteen
could not detect this veiled hint; his judgment was not
very:maturé.

Wordsworth was a constant influence upon him,
Not long after his arrival at Oxford, Wordsworth answered
his second letter, and in this proceeded to give more
expliclt advice than he allowed himself on the first

occaslone He writes:

27. Japp, De Quincey Memorials, vol. III, p. 408.
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I need not say to you that there 1s no

time dignity but 1ln virtue and temperance,

and, let me add, chastlity; and that the

best safeguard of all these 1s the cultiva-

tion of pure pleasures, namely, those of

the intellect and affections...I do not

mean to preach; I speak in simplicity and

tender apprehension as one lover of nature

and virtue speaking to another.(28)

De. Quincey answered this 1etter'at"once, assuring
Wordsworth of his natural disposition toward this type of 1life,
and his disgust at the practice of "unworthy pleasures® prohibits
him from indulging in them. At this time he "could not even
bring himself to mention his (Wordsworth's) name in Oxford, for
fear of having to encounter ridiculous observations or jeering
gbuse of his favourite, who was laughed at by most of the
Oxonlans." (29)

 An instance which deplcts the reverence which De
Quincey had in his earlier years for the poet is told by
Woodhouse.(30) Meeting one time in London with Charles Lamb,
another admlirer of Wordsworth, De Quincey heaped pralse upon the
name of the poet; Lamb was also inclined to praise Wordsworth,
but in more qnalifiéd terms, The oplum=-eater complained to
Lemb that he did not do Wordsworth justice. Lamb, then, "in
his dry, facetious way, observed, if we are to talk of him in

this strain, we ought to have sald grace before

28, Ibida, vol. I, Pe. 124,

29, Woodhouse, Notes of Conversations with Thomas De Quincey,
~ Sept. 28, 1821, p.. e 71

300 Ibido, ppo '71"'720



- we began our conversation." De Quincey, not having the
sharpness of mind in 1804 to appreciate irony or wit, left
the room instantly and broke off assoclations with Lamb
for some time.
‘ Nevertheless, when De Quincey made his ﬁemorable
vislt to Wordsworth and first met him, thls meeting carried a
slight disappointment ﬁo himp this is shown by his tending
to maeke Dorothy, not her brother, the‘chief confidant of
his hopes. So hils relations with Wordsworth were to mature
up to a certain point of friendship and mutual esteem, from
whieh'they rapidly declined; but they were never really
intimate., Part of this may be explained by the fact that
Wordsworth had already reached that age In which his désife
for intimacy was not great, and had become satisfied by his
wife énd family., As Keats once reported Wordsworth's saying.
of himself, he was "not one of those who much delight to
season theilr frisnds with personal talk." ‘31)

‘The human nature unto vhich I felt

That I belonged, and which I loved and reverenced,

Was not a punctual Presence, but a Spirit
Living in time and space, and far diffus'd.(32)

3l. Sackville-West, op. cit., Pe. 72, quoting letter to
John Hamilton Reynolds, September 21, 1817,

32. The Prelude (1805), Book VIII, lines 760-764,
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Now it is necessary to treat in some details the
painful subject of their estrangement, Before De Quincey's
marriage with Marcaret ompson-—-—tbe evant which conpleted
the estrangemeﬂt, there were many e vicences of a falling.
out. Sara Hutchinson wrote in ¥ovember, 1815, that Y ilson
was sober, "though De Quincey was ‘often tipsyv... He doses
himself with opium and drinks like a flsh and trig§ in 411
other ways to be as great a gun as Nr. Wilson." (39)
Alfhough this bit is probably untrue, dictated out of
spite and vindictive feelings, iﬁ serves to show that a
coldness that had developed.

When De Quincey's visits to the Iab where he
courﬁed l‘argaret Sampson, began to cause gossip in the
neighborhood, the Wordsworth ladies accepted readily the
stories. |

Crabb Robinson, writing.to Tordsworth in Cctober 1816,
after a visit to the lakes, says that he found De Guincey; "in
a sore state," taiking of the estrangement between himself
and the Wordsworths, and "imagining comments" on himself.(U4)

This imagination, however, was not to be

33. Do Selincourt, Dorothy Wwordsworth, p. 303.

34, Sackvilie-%est, op. ci%.,p. 120.
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untrue; and some months later, when De Quincey was married,
his own dearest friend, Dorothy, could write of him in
perfect misunderstanding and unkindness:

Mr. DeiQuincey is married; and I fear I may add

he 1s rulned. By degrees he withdrew himself .

from all soclety except that of the Sympsons (35)

of the Nab... At the up-rouzing of the Bats and

the Owls he regularly went thither, and the

consequence was that Peggy Sympson, the eldest

daughter of the house presented him with a son

ten weeks ago, and they...are now spending their

honeymoon in our cottage at Grasmere. This is

in truth a melancholy storyl... As for him I am

very, rsorry for him--he 1s utterly changed in

appearance and takes largely of opium.(36)

But 1t was not the case that Margaret SimPSOn was
1l11-fitted %0 be his mate, that she made him unhappy, or
that their romance was an unnatural one. To these remarks
can be assigned the explanation elther that Dorothy felt a
wounding disillusionment about a young man to whom she had
granted such affection, or that she felt a jealousy of his
companionship with another woman. Most likely, the second
factor was almost negligible, and Dorothy Wordsworth
suffered only from a misunderstanding of De Quincey's motives.

However, this is merely a guess.

35, This name is spelled in different ways; there 1s no
general agreement about its form.,

%6, Letter to Mrs. Clarkson of February 15, 1817. Quoted
by De Selincourt, op. cit., p. 304.
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Wordsworth, on the other hand, heard the accusations
against De Quincey with cool and untroubled but with clear,
disapproval. le was not to become hurt to the core by an
offensive action of De Quincey's, for the poium-eater did
not take much of a place in his heart. As an admirer and
pleasant acquaintance Vordsworth had presumably enjoyed
De Quincej's companionship. Rut his feelings ware not thosa
" of real friendship--in the 6rdinary sense of the term. In
Jjudging Wordsworths'. part in the estransement, it must be
remembered above all that the poet was a man whose ordinary
affections had been sublimated into his poetry and journa-

. lism. Coleridget's friendship hevdid not pine much over
losing, bﬁt contented himselt with lofty indifference and
self-centered occupations. He did, howeve, feel mors
deeply about Coleridge than De Quincey. In a man of
Yordsworth's temperament and greatness it ought not to be
hard to excuse his attitudes. He was an isolated figure
of greatness, content to make artistry his 1life wdrk, and
unmindful of the judgment of other human beings. In this
he is very similiar of-Walter Savage Landor, who "strove
~wlth none for none was worth my strife." Coleridge, De
Quincey, and Hazlitt, all hurt by Wordsworth's lack of

sympathy for them, tried in turm to injure the poet by



their abuges --without a bit of success.

His withdrawal from intimate friendship with De Quilncey
had made 1tself felt early in the year; and in September;
1816, Crabb Robinson in his Diary reports a walk which he
took with the poet up Nab Scar, at the end of which
Wordsworth left hiﬁ at the door of Dove Cottage; where
De Quincey was living, but did not go in, thus indicating
the state of his feelings. But it was no doubt the birth
of Margaret's child that finally determined him to drop
the friendship. {37) | B

Though it was almost the custom in country districts
to have marriage conditional upon'conceptiOn,,and Wordsworth
had followed this course twenty-flve years ago in his liaison
with Annette Vallon, yet Wordsworth did not feel himself
obliged to tolerance, hils circumstances and age being changed.
Also; he had an unmarriéd,sister and sister-in-law living
in his house, and chlldren who were growing up: these facts,
it appeared to him, made it 1mpossible that he and his
family should continue on intimate terms with a man who was

said to have had an illicit romance with a peasant girl in

37, Sackville - West, op. cit., p. 121,



the nelghborhood. Wordsworth now took a line, in the words
of Colerldge, who describes his and Wordsworth'!s separation
from Hazlitt,--of a "quiet withdrawing from any further |
connection with him." Although Wordsworth had further connections
with De Quincey, 1t was more in the way of literary business
than of friendly intercourse.

We tend to sympathize with De Quincey, but to argue
that Wordsﬁorth, with the distinciive témperament, should
have been more considerate, is beside the point.

Another guestion of the estrangement, and one which
De Quincey avolds as much as possible because of his feeling
of guilt, is that of opium. De Quincey's increased indulgence
in opium, which began in the last months of 1815, the date
of the beginning of the estrangement, was regarded with
diégust by the Wordsworth.. The letter of Sara Hutchinson,
mentioned before, shows that the Wordsworths were by now
fully aware of this feature of their friend's life, and
their dismal experience with Coleridge precluded another
such embroilment in the future. They were.entifely Justi-

fied in thelr refusal to sacrificé themselves a second time



by letting a drug addict vex the household. De Quin%&
must have known about all this, because he aviods‘the

opium subject in his writings about this period of his
lifé; and 1t probably prévented him from voicing grievances
against Wordsworth at this time.

The shock of receiving the cold shouider from h;a
dearest friends was a terriblie one and was certainly re-
Sponeible for the heavy gloom of the next two years of
his life. After the first months of marriage everything
went well, and he was not tempted into "unworthy pleasures,"
but there was soon the grimmest of tortures to enlipse'
sadly the promisé and hope of theéebfew months. No doubt
gréatly sensitive to the loss of his society, he lapses
into a frightful experience, for the same opium which
had previously brought him pleasures now brought him down
to the lowest depths of despalr and hopelessness.

To Dorothy Wordsworth, who for such a long time
supplied fresh interests,for De Quincey until the ysar 18156~
1816, should go the credit for brightening his life and

inspiring him in his creations.



The insplration which she gave to her brother was
of the same kind which De Quincey received, and he writes
that

Whereas the Intellect of Wordsworth was,

by 1ts original tendencies, too stern--

too austere--too much enamored of an

ascetlc, harsh sublimity, she it was--

the lady who paced by hls side continually

through sylvan and mountain tracks, in

Highland glens, that first couched his eye

to the sense of beauty--humanized him by

the gentler charities, (38)
and instilled into him "those graces upon the ruder growths
of his nature.” i ‘ |

That be Quincey looked towards Dorothy to express
more personal feelings 1s shown by their correspondence‘
soon after their firs? meeting. In the spring of 1808

39) , ‘
he wrltes two letters to Dorothy, the first written
in answer to one from Dorothy, which he HKad:found walting
for him on his return to college. He confides herein his
dislikes of Oxford study--the learning by heart -‘"collections
of unassorted details," his sleeplessness, and the strain
of the work. In the second letter, May 8, he makes the
confession that he stays awake eighteen hours a day and
goes to sleep on a sofa when he can no longer keep awake,
All such little details he would not have confided to

Wordsworthe

38, De Quincey, Op. cilte, vol. I, p. 277.

39, Sackville-West, op. cite., pe 73, quoting from the
Wordsworth Collecgion.
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During those parts of the year 1809 which De
Quincey spent away from Grasmere, he busied himself by
correspondence with Dorothy. In her letters the domsestic
affairsAof the Wordsworths alternate with gossip about the
district and news of the progress of repairé at Dove CottageQ
De Quincey replies with humorous description of his mother's
household at Wrington and the self-importance of Hannsh
More. Throughout Dorothy's 1ett§;s the themé of the children
is oonétanti the progress of Johnny and Catherine, De Quincey's
lavish spending on toys for the children. In fact, by the N
spfing of 1809, "she looked on him now very affectionatély
as almost & member of the family." (20) This‘state of
affection was to remain unbroken until the series of events
which led to the estrangement. Dorothy, then, besides
acting as & source of enlightenment and faith to William
Wordsworth, filled that same capacity, to a lesser degree,
in encouraging Thomas De Quincey. Another function of
hers was 1n smoothing the asperiti.e$: found in the poet!'s
letters to the opium-eater, and in bridging the gulf be-
tween Wordsworth's staid, sober mind and De Quincey's

~more impulsive, flighty dispositions.

40, Maclean, Dorothy Wordsworth, The Early Years, p. 3.
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CHAPTER IV

"The Society of the Lakes"

If De Quincey did not write as much as
“Wordsworth and Coleridge about the scenery of the
Lakes, there was certainly no lack of that sort of
material in the works of the poets.(l) Certainly
- the landscapes about the Lakes played'anlimportant
part in the lives of all three of the great
literary figures,.

In the spring of 1799, after thelr retﬁrn
from Germany, Wordsworth and his sister visited theilr
friends, the Hutchinsons, at Sockburn-on-Tees, and they
remained there till almost the close of the year. On
September 2nd, Wordsworth wrote from Sockburn to his

friend Cottle, to whom: he proposed that he meet the
publisher at Greta Bridge and that Wordsworth should

le He does treat the subject in his "Society of the
Lakes" in his Literary Reminlscences, vol. II,
Pe 115
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accompany him in a tour through Cumberland and West-
moreland counties.

Coleridge and Wordsworth's sailor brother,
John, joined 1n thls excursion, but Cottle was not able
to proceed farther than Greta Bridge. It was Coleridge's
fipst visit to the Lake country. He describes his '
impressions in a letter from Keswick to Dorothy
Wordsworth. |

You can feel, what I cannot express for
myself, how deeply I have been impressed
by a world of scenery absolutely new to
me. At Rydal and Grasmere I recelved,

I think, the deepest delight; yet Hawes-
Water, through many a varying view, kept
my eyes dim with tears; and, the evening
approaching, Derwent-Water, in diversity
of harmonious features, in the majesty

of its beauties, and in the bsauty of its
majesty . . « and the black crags close
under the snowy mountains, whose snows
were plnkish with the setting sun, and
the reflections from the rich clouds that

" floated over some and rested upon others! (2)

It waé reserved to Wordsworth, however, to set
the examplé of treating the Lake scenery in a manner
not unworfhy of its beauty and magnificence, and for

this he was well qualified, not only-é@y his poetic

JORE

2. Wordsworth,ﬁchristopher:, Memoirs of William
Wordsworth, pe. 149. -
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powers, but ngo by familiarity with the scenes.

This work was the Gulde to the Lakes, a pleas-~
ing book of topographical and social observation, which
he published in 1809. He begins his Guide with direc~
tions to_the tourist; and informs him how he may approach
the Lake district with best advantage. He then proceeds
to presgnt a panoramic view of the Lake dlstrict. He
1nvites‘the reader to accompany him to some central
point and asks him to imagine himself placed on "a cloud
hanging midway between Gable and Scawfell." 3) ‘He
points out to him the valleys which divergé'from this
center as spokes from the nave of a wheel, and helps him
to trace in the mind the course of these radlating
- valleys and of the brooks which flow along them to their
termination: "Langdﬁle, to the south-east; the vale of
Coniston, on phé south; the vale of Duddon, with its
copioﬁs stream, on the south-west. .Eskdale, waﬁered by
the Esk, adorned with the woody steep of Muncaster, the
deep valléﬁ of Wastdale, and its stern and desolate lake

on ﬁhe.west, and beyond it the Irish sea;ﬁhnerdale;;with’

3. TIbid., p. 447.
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its wiid lake, and its étream flowing through fertile
meadows by Egremont Castle, the vale and village of
Buttermere, and Crummock Water, then present themselves.
Beyond 1s the beautiful vale of Lorﬁon, along which the
river Cocker floﬁs, till it falls into the Derwent,
below the rulns of the castle and the town of Cocker-
mouth, the author's native place. Lastly, Borrowdale,
of which the vale of Keswlck is only a continuation,
‘stretches due north. Thus half of the clrcle has been
completed. The rest is traced in a similar manner." ‘4)
After commenting on the various kinds of
beauty produced by light and shadow in thils mountalnous
region, Wordsworth describes the different constituents
of beauty: first, the mountains, on which the irons
wlth which they are impregnated, the herbage, mosses,
lichens, fens, and woods, all contribute to gi#e variety
and brilliance to their hues. A special characteristic
of the vales of the Lake reglon 1s noticed. The bed of

these valleys is often level, giving room for meadows

4. TIbid.
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in which picturesque rocks emerge 1ike islands from
the plain. The form of a lake is then most perfect
vAwhen it least resembles a river, and when, consequently,_
it inspires a plaoid'fgeling of repose.

In the next section Wordsworth directs an
inquiry as to how far the beauties of this country are
ascribable to the hand of man.

~ When the Border country was pacified
by the union of the two crowns,
property became more secure, dwell-
ings were multiplied, and agriculture
improved. The native forests were
thinned for firewood and for the supply
of fuel to furnaces, and to.give place
to corn and carrle. The native
rock affords excellent materials for

- bullding cottages, which, from their
rudeness and simplicity, appear to
have risen by a spontaneous growth
from the soil. Hereln consists.
their beauty. Their projecting
masses of stone produce beautiful
effects of light and shade.  Their

- so0lid porches, built to weather-
fend the strangers, and to guard
the cottage hall from wind and :
rain, add much to their picturesque
appearance . . .

50 Ibido, ppo 449"450.
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The author then passes to a controversial
part of his subjJect. Certain settlers had expehded
1arge'sums'of money in banishing Nature, in indulging
grgteséue and fantastic extravagances, which marred
hér beauiy and repose. He suggests that the houses 1n}
a mountainous region should not be obtrusive, but
retired; He concludes wlth an appeal égainat the
enCroéchmeﬁt of civilizing elements and for simplicity
and beauty. |

De Quincey seems to concur with Wordsworth
about the ravages of "intruders" in the Lake country.
Hekpraises_Westmbreland'dwellings, but only those of
the-native dalesmen are considered, for those of the
"lakers", such as he and Wordsworth, are not real rustic
abodes, for their offence lies "in the hard undisguised
pursult of more coarse uses and needs of life." fﬁ) He
insists that the rustic dwelling should bespeaﬁ poverty

and seclusion. Another difference in habitat between

the dalesmen and the "intrusive gentry" 1s that

6. De Quincey, Literénx Reminiscences, vol. If, p.: 118,
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dalesmen select a sheltéred spot which protects them
from the wind altogether and takes care, at the same
time, to be within a few feet of the mountain beck; the
stranger, on the other hand,_chooses his site on points
better fitted for a temple than a dwelling place, and he
belts his house with balconies and verandas that are
easy prey for a mountaln gale.

In November, 1809, it will be recalled,
De Quincey arrived at Dove Cottage, where he was admired
by the common folk for his learning. He observes, in
his search for a servant girl, that the dalesmen of
Westmoreland, however wealthy some of them might be, dov
not think-it degrading to permit even the eldest daughter
to go out a few years to service; the object 1s to gain
a favorable sort of household experience.

After some comment on servant girls, De
Quincey introduces us into Clappersgate, a few miles from
Grasmere, the former being a hamlet where lived Dr. Cullen,
a physician, and his two daughters. The Scottlsh ladles
were liked for thelr kind dispositions. They had been

reduced from great wealth to a condition of poverty, due
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to the indulgent lavishness indulged on them by their
father. At the doctor's death, the family was poor.
One daughter, a Mrs. Millar, had become.a childless
widow; the other one was still unmarried. These 1adies;
though fairly well educated, could not be classed with
| the lake community of literatil and did not take any
interest in the Lake poets. In fact, "these amlable
women persisted in one uniform tone of*cautious for-
bearance, as often as any question arosevto implicate
the names of elther Wdrdsworth or Coleridge." (7)
They thought it strange indeed that men who had
gréduated from great universities,‘meﬁ such as Wilson
or De Qﬁincey, should worship these writers: It was a
craze, they thought, originating in personal connections,
- and this craze should,be treated with tenderness. For
their sakes, then, "they took a religious care to sgppress
all allusion to those disreputable names." (8) '
Another cross-section of 11fe in the Lake
district is contained in De Qulncey's description of the
valley of Easédale and George and Sarah Green. He declares
this valley "one of the most iﬁpressing solitudes amongst

LAY \E"
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7. Ibid., p. 128«
s. Ibld.
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the mountains of the lake district."(g) De Quiné% says
that he must pause to deseribe it, calling attention to
two phases of 1ts beauty: first, 1t 1is impreséive as a
solltude; second, it is impressive from the 1ove11ness‘~
which adorns 1ts little area, Easdale is "a dependency
of Grasmere,"(lO) lying within the same general basin of
mountains, 'In this solituae i1t was that George and Sarah
Green, two poor and hard-working peasants, dwelf with a
numerous famlly of small children. They were poor but
Well-reépected and well—grooﬁed. Sarah, though a good
womén in mature days, had an elder daughtep who was
illegimate and whose father was dead; she took utmost
care of the child, wishing to see her placed in a respect-
able house Qith a good and virtuous mistress. On one
occaéion, therefore, she went with her husband to a sale
of_domestic_furniture, whefe she dhallenged,notice by the'
| emphasis of her solicitations for her daughter, But no
one gave them much consideration. They left the scene,
but when they were unobserved, they began to ascend the
hills.. "After this fhey were seen no more, They had

: 11)
disappeared into the cloud of death,':

9. Ibid., p. 62-
10. Ibid., pp. 62-63.
11. Ibid., p. 73.
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That night and the following morning there was
a very heavy fall of snow, and Sarah Green's poor children
wore  imprisoned. Three days later the eldest daughter,
Agnes, pursued her'solitary misslon to the nearest house
in Grasmere., She came to Dorothy Wordsworth and told her
and De Quincey her sad news. And, "no tongue can express
the fervid sympathy which travelled through the vale, like
the fire in an American forest, when it was learned that
nelther George nor Sarah Green had been seen by their
children since the day of the Longdale sale. Days later
George Green was found lying at the bottom of a precipice,
from which he had fallen; Sarah Green was found on the
summit of the precipice. ‘ _
By thls affalr Wordsworth was able to write a

 poem, of which I quote two stanzas: ‘
Who weeps for strangers? Many wept

For George and Sarah Green;
Wept for that pair's unhappy fate,

Whose graves may here be seen.
By night, upon these stormy fells,

Did wife and husband roam;
Six little ones at home had left,

And could not find that home.
Wordsworth goes on, in the rest of the poem,

with the narrative of‘George and Sarah Green's disappearance.
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There are other very interesting accounts of
‘acquaintances of the Lakes in the second volums of

Literary Reminiscences of persons such as Miss Elizabeth

Smith, "Walking" Steward, Mrs. Siddons, Mrs. Hannah More--
but it is ‘hecessary to leave them and deal with two literary
notables, Charles LLoyd and John Wilson, charter members
of the "Lake Gommunity of literati."

" Immediately below the hamlet of Clappersgate,
in which the Scottish ladies, Mrs. Millar and Mrs. Cullen,
resided, runs the mountain river Brathay; close to this
river, on the farthest side, stands Low Brathay, a modest
family mansion belonging to a one Charles Lloyd; De Quincey
refers to the latter as "amongst the most interesting men
I have known." “

On hils first hasty visit to Grasmere in 1807 he

found ILloyd settled with his family at Brathay, and a .
resident of good standing. It was on a wet gloomy evening
when he and Dorothy were caught in the rain, and she
' suggested that they call on the Lloyds on passing. They
did not stay there’long, but he was impressed by the warm
cordiality and cheerfulness of the couple who had "six or

(13)
seven children then 1iving," he being not more, certainlz,

13. Ibid., p. 143.
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than thirty-seven, and his wife, Sophia, perhaps not yet
twenty-five. He was 1nfepested in them, and two years
later when he bécame a resident of Grasmere, he maintained
close connection withixhe Lloyds. |

Charles Lloyd seems to have been quite a literary
personality of that time, although his,poems were not of
the best order, being loosely conceivea and not finished
in technique. But his poetry did not belong to the imitative
poetry so widely cultivated;"they were true and solitary
sighs, wrung from his own meditative heart by excess of
suffering, and by the yearning after o0ld scenes and house-
hold forces of an impassioned memory, brooding over vanishéd
happiness."(l4) |

e (15)

His person De Quiggy describes as "tall and
somewhat clumsy--not intellectual so much as benign and °
concilhtory in his expression of force. His features were

not striking, but they expressed great goodness of heart;

and latterly wore a deprecatory expression that was

14. Ibid., p. 144«
15. Ibid., pp. 151-152.
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peculiarly touching to those who knew its cause." This
"cause" was a hereditary disease sald to appear in the
éecond or third generation and also to be found exclusively
among the young men and women of the Quaker soclety, of .
which he was a member.

De Quincey rather liked Charles Lloyd and was
somewhat resentful that Wordsworth and Coleridge did not
take td him.or appreciate his powers. He was thought by
the oplum-eater to have had the flair for analyzing a
certaln character or characters with a keeness of distinction
and a fellcity of phrase, which were perfectly admirable.(ls)
He had a truly remarkable insight into human nature, but was
very modest about this talent. De Quincey observes .that
because Lloyd was not sure of the sympathy of elther Wordsworth
or Coleriqge, his powers forsook him in thelr presence; both
Charles Lloyd and his wife believed that the two Lake poets
desplsed him.

Lloyd was attacked by disease for about six or
seven years in a violent manner; he tried all sort of remedies,
including walks of twenty mlles and<large quantities of opium,
to no avail. Tloyd's mind began suffering derangement, andv

he sought children's company because they would not scoff at

16. Ibid., p. 153.
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his peculiar ways. But his madness increased, and he was
taken away to a lunatic asylum, ran away a fugitive to De
Quiné&'s house at Grasmere, was recaptured, then let loose
to go with hig wife to France, where he died.

- It was at one of the dances at Low Brathay, Lloyd's
house,‘that De Quiney first met John Wilson, of Elleray,
"in circumstances of animation, and buoyant with youthful
splirits, under the excitement of lights, wine, and, above
all, of female company," (27)

Wilson, referred to as "Professor Wilson" by De
Quiné§, had been a married man since 1811, when Miss Jane
Penny, the belle of the Lake district, became his bride,
He ﬁas at intervals dbming and going between Edinbuygh and .
Elleray. | | |

"The Admiral of the Lakes," as he called himself,
was to outwabd appearances anyway, the complete opposite
‘to Charles Lloyd. 1In a few intellectual traits; though,
he came close to the sensitive person, Lloyd., Hg was
tall, quite handsome, "Nordic" in typical style, with fair
hair and blue eyes; bursting with vitality and a schoolboy
sense of fun; rowing, salling, striding over the mountaing; -

yet also reading voluminously and at random. Hé was a man

peculiarly fitted tovappeal to De Quiné&'s gsense of romance

17. Ibid., p. 155.
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and his need of hero worship. Wilson was a sort of pleasant
substitute for Wordsworth as & hero; for Wilson, instead of
belittling De Quincey, admired him openly for qualities which
he himself lacked, while at the same time providing his friend
with an endless fund of vicarous energy.

Wilson was the eldest son of a rich gauze manu-
facfurer of Paisley; he was left fatherless and well-off at
the age of eighteen, in the same year as De Quincey matric-
ulated at Worcéster. But the two never met during their
varsity careers. After leaving Oxford, Wilson had bought the
estate of Elleray on Windermere, and settled down there.

When the two met in Coleridge's room at Allan
Bank for the first real meeting, it was Wilson's conversatidn
rather than his appearance which impressed De Quincey. It
bore no trace, even in such a person of fine endowmentsaof
arrogance in his character. But Carlyle detested some of
Wilson's weaknessesand so, later, did De Quincey, as
evidenced in the latter'!s somewhat chiding passages in hié
sketch of the critics. 1In later yeérs Wilson showed off a
cértain dilettantism and indulged himself in sentimental
poses; there was also a certain self-distrust, moral cowardice,
and immaturity of soclal life of behavior that had gone far
to change him from an eager=-eyed Elizabethan of twenty-four

into the raucous, practical joker of the Blackwood's period.
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But at the moment when the friendship between hlmself and
De Quincey broke into triumphant flower, this deferioratibn
héd not yet set in. Throughout the first years at Grasmere
Wilson kept De Quincey in a state of delight and liveliness,
and each one's mutual admiration did wonders oﬁ'the other's
temperament. In_their yeafs of Edinburgh, their friendship
was not so enthusiastic as had been earlier, but its lamp
was still shining. ' | | |

We shall now discuss the third of the Lake poets,
Robert Southey, and his pbsition in the little clique of
literary persons. , 3 |

It has already been related how De Quincey had
offered to take Mrs. Coleridge and her children to Southey's
home and how the party stopped at Wordsworth's house on the;
way. On the third day after his arrival at Grasmeré, Words-
worth and his youthful visitor walked and rode for about
twenty-two miles and passed the night in a house called
Eﬁsmere. Tﬁe next day they left the rest of their party
there, roam;d'through the woods of Lowther, dined together
at Emont Bpidge, and walked into Penrith. There Wordsworth
left De Quincey in the house of Caﬁtain Wordsworth, his
brother, the latter and his family being ebsent from the
quarters. Tgen qudsworth'went'on his way, and De Quincey

walked along the road, about seventeen miles, to Keswick.
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It was about seven otclock when he reached Southey! door.
His arrivat causéd a stir in the house; "and, by the time
the front door could be opened; I saw Mrs. Coleridge, and
a gentleman whom I could not dpubt to be Southsy, standing
very hospitably to greet my entrance. Southey was, in
persoh, someﬁhat taller than VWordsworth, being about five
feet eleven in height, ofr a trifle nmors whilst Wordsworth
was about five feet ten."(ls) He had fihe, pronounced
features, appeared dressed in Tyrolese costume and struck
De Quincey by "a remarkable habit of lodking up into
the air, as if looking at abétractions."(lg) But "the
expression of his face was that of a very aéute‘and an

",

inspiring man 'y and, "so far, it was even noble as it

conveyed a feeling of a serene and gentle pride, habit-

(20)

ually familiar with slevation subjects of contemplation.”

Southey was sinqére and hospltable, eager to serve his friends,

but De Quincy's acumen judges that "there was an air of

reserve and distance about him--the reserve of a lofty, self-

- respecting mind, but, perhaps, a little too fresezing--in his

| treatment of all persons who were not among the corps bff
(21)
his ancient fireside friends."

18. Ibid., p. 19
19. Ibid,,p. 27
20. Ibid.,
21. Ibid.
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De Quincey hardly ever sought out his society
and never was really very intimate with him. If one word
could be used‘to it the oplum-eatert's attitude toward
Southey, 1t would be Pespect.” FHis statement--"I was yet
on such terms for the next ten or éleven years, (i.e.,
| from 1809-22) that I might-in 2 qualified sense, call myself
his friend--" is not by any means enthusiastic. But he
immediately affirms that ”thefe were long years through
which Southey right respebt me, I him," (253
| The atmosphere of conscious rectitude dispensed
by‘Southey mast ve beeh gélling to almost anybody, let
alone those who, like Coleridge and De'Qﬁinéa, were conscious
of considerable weakness of temperarent which; they'ma& have
beén sure,_would receive short shrift from Southey; De Quiné&
at once noticed the lack of ényxma;Lfeeling;of friendship
between ljordsworth and Southey, and afterwards took a kind
of malicious pleasure in recording it.(24) Although he ad
mits that in iatér felationships, about fifteen years from
the time of De.Quincey's meetin% with Southéy, many circum-

stances made the two lLake poets more intimate: "agreement in

politics, sorrow which had happened to both alike in their

220 Ibido, ppc 50-51.
23. 7Tbid., p. B5L.
'24. 7Ibid., . 20.
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domestic relations, and the sort of tolerance for different
opinlons of 1iterature, or, ‘indeed, in anything else, which
advancing years and experience are sure to bring with them."(zs)
This belng dispensed with, De Quincey rather in a simpering
manner talks of their disharménies during the earlier Grasmere
period, Southey's feminine fussiness ifritated Wordsworth,
who called 1t finical." The difference between the two men

is 1llustrated by the different attitudes with regard to-
books: Southey loved them as obJects,.whereas Wordsworth

had no feeling for them apart from their contents. De Quincey
repofts his own and Southey's horror at the sight of Words-
worth cutting the leaves of De Qnincey‘s owﬁ copy of Burke
with a knife that had just been used ﬁo butter bread. To
Wordsworth such én action seemed quite natural, because he
"lived in fthe bpen.air"'and ﬁas without the instincts of

the scholar or bibiibphile; but Southey "lived in his library,
which}Coleridge used to call his wife," and Southey's fastid-
1oﬁs tastes can best be seen in his manuscripts, exquisitely
written, with hardly an erasure, on tiny pages.

” Very interesting are some other points of contrasts
between Wordsworth and Southey.(26) Beginning with an accent-

uated téne of respect, De Quincey observes that Southey had

25. lbid., p. 20.
26. Ibid., pp. 396ff.
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no superior for sense of honor, firmness of integrity,
"and for generosity within the limits of prudence;" and
certainly in habits and daily manners he 1s a more
"amiable" man than Wordsworth. ™He is less capable, for
instance, of usufping an undue share of the conversation;
he is more uniformly disposed to be charltable in his
transient cologquial judgments upon doubtful actions of
his neighbors"; more willing to make allowances for infer-
ior powers oi persons; more willing to admit that he may
have been wrong; more tolerant of indifference towards
his writings; and, finally, as an "anti-climax," much more
ready to volunteér his assistance in carrying a lady's
reticule or parasoi." All of which is not quite compli-
pentary to Wordsworth,,altﬁdugh he avers that he will have
something to say later to justify Wordsworth's hostility
‘towards his critics. Fﬁrthermore, in this contrast can
bé seen}instantly the petty grilevances that the oplum-eater
entertains concerning Wordsworth. ’

With De Quincey's arguments against the inclusion
of Southey with the "Lake Poets", this writer agrees, although

the criticism of the man's prose, which De Quincey admits at
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first is good, seems to be beslde the point. The only
possible reason for Southey's inclusion in the group
termed the "Iake School,” of the ILake poets", i1s that

he lived among then and maintained close peréonal connec-
tions with them. But whether he can be rightly given the
place because of his work in poetry--as exemplifying the
credo and style of liordsworth and Coleridge-~is debatable.
In facb? this wrliter sees that the names of the three were
‘grouped together by a few critics; then taken in by the
audience of readers, and finally popularized because of
its convenient and easy means of identification in a

geographical sense.
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| CHAPTER V
APPRAISAL OF DE QUINCEY'S ATTITUDES

The partisans of De Quincey in the struggle between
the opium-eater and members of the Wordsworth and Coleridge
families would probably admit that he had certain prejudices.
That these prejudices crept into his work to no little‘éxtent,
and that De Quincey was guilty of distortions of fact as well
as of one-sidedness in approach, is evidenced‘in much of his
worke Although he seems to assure ws in his bfilliant prose
that he means well, it is not infrequent that his tone ts
{nsincere; But, on the other hand, it must be said that he
had certain rights to his criticism. What these rights were
and in what bounds he belomged wfll be the purpose of the
following discussione.

Perhaps a large measure of misunderstanding is due to
the fact that the offensive articles were thought of as other
than autobiographical, which they were not, Thus, the con-
temporary opinion, which was on the whole against De Quincey,
did not distingQish the difference between the series of
autobiographical sketches, which it was, and the life of
_Coleridge, whfch it did not claim to be. Edward Fitzgerald
wés one of those who termed his article on the author of

The Ancient Mariner "The Life of Coleridge."




_ | | Calles
Granted this distinction, we must look for violations

within the realm of autobiographical writing. One accusation
that has been directed against De Quincey is "cattiness."

Certainly a sense of spitefulness, ié‘ﬂbf treated objectively,

does not‘belohg,in a work like Literary,Reminiggendég. In
some passages the thoughts, whfle intensely persoda1, are
presented in this objective @annef.

' | De Quincey accdses Wordsworth of being arrogant to
the point that makes "a familiar or.neighborly_intercourse
bwith him painful and mortifying." (1) Thgkwords~"painfdl"
and"mortifying" here show that De Quincey's own pride had
been wounded bylWordsworth.-Hé states that there were certain
.provinces of {hought which he kept exclusively for himself,
and any attachments therein he treated contemptuously, as i
they were intrusions. One of these "things apart," and which
’occurréd most frequgntly, was the theory of'"picturesque
beauty:*; specifically, it had to do with comments on mountain
scenery as affected by seasons, time of_day,‘qr‘}ight and
shade. He admits that both William and hi; sister had a shafp
"organfc sensibility to the effects of form andrcolor,”>and
naturally should be given attention. But Wordsworth claimed
abgolute precedency in this matter. "To everybody, standing

out of this sacred and privileged pale, Wordsworth behaved

(1) De Quincey, Literary Reminiscences, ivol.TI,’ ipp., 241ff,



insult in cases of this nature: he did not even appear
to listen; but, as if what {hey said on such a theme be
childish prattle, turned away with an air of perfect
indifference," (2) either began talking with somebody
elsey or did not even notice what was being said, making
an apology for an answer. ‘

This passage obviously reflects that Wordsworth
was purposely, and arrogantly, full of pride. The overcharged
spirit, however, points to a deep hurt‘pf De Quincey's_____
a mortification at not having béén properly appreciated by
the poet. Wordsworth's alleged pride can be defended on
several grounds, and on one chiefly; namely, that Wordsworth
preferred to have private thoughts on the subject. Intrusion
by other people spoiled the poetic love and veneration he
had for the scenery. De Quincey, on the other hand, stuhg
to the quick by an admiratiqn‘that’bad_néﬁhbeen returned,
imagined that Wordsworth's reticence on the subject was
arrogance., This viewpoint does not take into account
Wordsworth's essential temperament and enlarges upon what -
the nature-poet would probably consider a slight matter,
possibly being even as much as unaware of any offence on
his part.

An instance, again, of exaggeratiqn_is that passage

in which De Quincey deplores Wordsworth's stubbornness. (3)

(2; 'bidc’ Poe 242,
(3 _______ibido’ Pe 243,



Wordsworth had applied the"vulgar" term "fending and proving"
to those who differed with him and attempted,_acpording to
the quoted term, to make explanations for their differences.,
He would declare something like this:‘" Mr. XYZ, | will ha?e
nothing to do with fending and proving, " which amanted to
saying that "he conceived himself to be liberated from those .
obligation§ of justice by which other men are bound." (4) He
knew_tha{ hé could not get redrgs$ from Wordsworthyand
reasoned: "I have_been ill used to a certain extent; butdd |
think that a sufficient reason for giving up all my intimacy
with a man like Wordsworth?...41though | am able to bear the
particular wrong | now complain of, yet | feel that even from
Wordsworth | could not tolerate and contemptuous refusal of
Jjustice. The result, then, if | bursue_this matter, will be
to rob me of Wordsworth'siacquaintance." (5)

Undertones to be detected here are'those essentially
of the previously considered portion: a sense of hurt prides .
an expounding on the sub ject of Wordsworth'sldpgmatigm,Abarping .
on the phrase "fending aﬁd proving" as a contemptuous expression
of Wordsworth's for people who disagreed with hime. The biographers
of Wordsworth do not create for one the impression that the poet.
was scornful of other people and their ideas. Furthermorg.vwhat
might under diFFerent‘circumstances have been rggar&ed as a

natural and excusable trait of Wordsworth's, had been regarded

(4; Ibid.
.bid,, PpPe 243-244,

(5



~119~
as offensive and provocative. De Quincey is obviously hunting

up ways and means of alleviating his hurt, for he wants to
impress upon the reader that he, De Quincey,»had_seen fit to
leave Wordsworth; the fact was, however, that Wordsworth was
the one who stopped their friendship.

But these undertones, taken in_themselves,’do not
constitute judgment against De Quincey; guilty of prejudice
though he was,he might in some ways have been justified in
calling Wordsworth arrbgant and narrow-minded.But Wordsworth
was not an ordinary man. When he spoke about Wordsworth, he
looked upon him as a man of normal interests and passions;
such was not the case, for Vordsworth had bu{_a little
capacity fér human friendship outside his family interests.,
His realm was the greatness of the nature world,and of
universal love. Wordsworth, no doubt, realized this limitation
of his human side, and warned De Quincey accordingly. The
spium-eater, then,; not unwelcome, but on his own ini{iative;
sought out the poet's companionship.

The same sense of injury which préduced these
impertinences against a man who was still alive deprived
De Quincey's account of the estrangement of the force and
cogency it might have had. He fails to take advantage of his
good points Eﬁt divert's the reader's sympathy by.iopdnegg_h »
of protest. He makes it plain that he understandé Wordsworth's
incapacity for dispersed affection, outside his family.?iﬁg}e,
but wastes the rest of hisvaftiqle with petty faﬁlt-finding;'
for example, Wordsworth does not admfre Harriet Lee's

The GermanéTalef «. therefore his mind is one-sided.
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Sackville-West avers that De Quincey's ideas on
Wordsworth also suffered from his envy of the latter's
successe. He quotes to this effect from De Quincey:

And it must rejoice every man who joins in the
public homage now rendered to his powersland what man 1s
to be found who, more or less, does not?) to hear,which
goes with respect for one so lavishly endowed by nature,
that he had not been neglected by fortune; that he has
never had the finer sensibilities of his powers dulled
by the sad anxieties, the degrading fears, the miserable
dependencies of debt; that he has been blessed with
competency even when poorest. (7)

De Quincey continues in this strain, creating a
complete elegy on his own dreams, "which he had been
obliged to abandon in the bittersst detail." (8)

And so we conclude that if Wordsworth's character is
to be judged, it should be on the basis of his peculiar,
almost impersonal temperament; for De Quincey to suppose
otherwise lays him open to reproéf. But De Quincey fails
to appreciate this temperament in Wordsworth, and
consequently his writings are open to censure where he
~expects of Wordsworth something foreign to his nature.

The opium-eater's quarrel with Coleridge was éuite
different from the one with Wordsworth. De Quincey had‘pot
the "breathless adoration" for Coleridge that he had for
Wordsworth; his and Coleridge's were kindred spirits, and

the two men met more or less on a ground of parity. De Quincey

was seldom ill at ease under the gaze of Cole}idge, because

(7) Sackville-Wost, De Quincey, quotlng from Japp, De Quincey
Memorials, :vol. ||’ Pe 292.
(8) Ilbides po '990_
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the latter was always affable and personable, and made
everyone he met feel at home with him. Coleridge had
undergone the same sort of of mental, physical, and
moral degradation as he had undergone,so that De’Quincey>
could actually look with pity upon‘the,older'opium-eater.

| Five features of the articles on Coleridge which
caused ill feeling | have already mentioned: The_referencé
to Coleridge's marriage. to the Wordsworth-Montagu imbroglio,
‘the charges of literary'plagiarism,the accusation of taking
opium to produce "luxurious sensationé,",and the revelation
of the gift of 300 1.

De Quincey can more easily be defended in these
controversies, becausé he committed no perversions of fact
and made no dnjust attacks as had been the case in his
articles on Wordsworth, ___more notably the last, on the

Gradual Estranggmenf from Wordsworth, published in 1840,

His references to Coleridge's marriage and to the Wordsworth-
Montagu imbroglio, and the revelation of ‘the gift of 300 1.

all were truthful,shrewd,and well-expressed,although
'they may be arraxgned on the charge of "blurting." However,
there was not much excuse for charging Coleridge with llterary
,plagiarism.His accusation of Coleridge's taking opium for
pleasure is understandable,but the eiémept of bias necessarily
- creeps in and Bindérs truth of statement.

In giving his reasons for pointing out some of
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Coleridge's "unacknowledged obligations,"‘(g) De Quincey
explains clearly that he does this "to forestall...other
discoverers who would make a more unfriendly use of the
discovery, and also, as matters of literary curiosity."(10)
The general line of argument is against De Quincey on these
two basesy however, because hardly any other scholars might
accuse Coleridge of plagiarism if only for the fact that
this type of pfagiarfsm was permissable; as "matters of
literary curiosity" they naturally lead to considerations
of plagiarisme.

From De Quincey's point of view, he could be
acquitted of dishonorable intention on the ground that he
gave due credit to Coleridge from time to time. He treats
first Coleridge's debt to Frederica Brun, a female poet of -
Germany, for the framework to the "Hymn to Chamouni."

To be sure, "the mere framework of the poem is exactly

the same,___an appeal to the most impressive features of
the regal mountain, (Mount Blanc,) citing them to proclaim
their author." He cites for an illustration that "the
torrent," to proclaim its author, "is rgquired to say by
whom it had been arrested in its Headlong raving, and
stiffened, as by the petrific mace'of Death, into everlast-
ing pillars of ice; and the answer to these impassioned
apostrophés ié méde by the same soul burst of rapture."

Then it by all means it is in mere logic, an even in form,

(lo; De Quincey, op. cits, vol.I, ‘pp.. 156 fF,
(11) Ibid.ype 157, '
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a translation. He admits, however, tBat Coleridge~by .
succesful amplification and deeper lyrical ﬁeaning, had
created "the dry bones of the German outline..;intg the
fulness of life. It is not, therefore, a paraphrase, but
a recast of the ofiginal." (12) |

Although | have not had the cpportuniiy to see the
original, it seems to me that an accusation of plagiarism
is not very strong if it relies upon the factors mentioned
abo;e. Most of the observations made are beside the point;
an aouthor can borrow "the mere framework of ﬁhe»poem,"”for
it is mostly the means of expressianihatlmakes the poem.
Since De‘Quincey admits that Coleridge put life into it, his
case is quite weake

His second point against Coleridge was that "in a
very noble-bassage‘of '‘France' a fine e%pressiqn or two
occur from'Samson Agonistes.' " F}S) He_defénds Coleridge:
"Now to take é phrase or an inspiring line from the grgat‘z
fathers of poetfy, even though no marks of quotation be
used, carries with it no charge of plagiarism." Then he
- immediately contradicts this statement by condemning
Coleridge for using phrases and lines that were very
very typically Milton's. v o

His third point was ihat Coleridge got the germ

of the Ancient Mariner from Shelvogke; that herwould not

‘admit his obligation to the latter.This is true, but poets
are.not required to announce their various sources.

One exception, though, to Coleridge's innocence lay

~

in an essay in Biographia Literaria on the reciprocal relations

(12) Ibid.
(13) Tbid.
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of the Esse and the Cogita.rzez. Colerigets preface to his essay
acknowledges his indebte:iness to Schelling for the ideas con-
tained the'reiﬁ; "but in this particular case, insisting on the
impossibility thét he could have borrowed arguments which he had

first seen after he had thought out the whole hypothesis propri
marte."” (14) But "after thls, what was my astonishment to find

that the entire essay from the first word to the last, is a ver-

batim trenslation from Schelling, with no attempt in a single in-
stance to appropriate the paper, by developing the arguments or
by diversifying the illustrations " (15) In spite of the firm
tone used by De Quincey, he was riéht, as a lawyer would be to
prosecute a g;xil'by person, toiring into attention this wrong=-doing.
Approaching the opium controversy, we find that De =

Quincey had considerable prejudice in this matter, as natunally‘
would be the case. De Quincey had .a right to retaliate, because
Coléridge'.é letters accuse him of spreading opiun-eating b¥ his
works; fur'thermore, Coleridge was the greater opiumla,ddict. So,
" as far as the motives for broaching this subject reach, De Quincey
was justified in the writing; but it would not be accurate to say
' in the same breath that his writing is free from exaggeration and
misinterpretation at- this issue.

~ He states that Coleridge, chagrined'by his amy life at
Malta, took to the gohsump‘bign of opium. But he becomes offénsive

 in making the insinuation found in the following passage. (16)

(14) Ibid., p. 160.

(1g) Ipid., p. 2086.
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I am the last person in the world to press cohélUsibﬁé
harshly or uncandidly against Coleridge; but | believe it
to be notorious that he first began the use of opium, not
only as a relief from any bodily pains or nervous irritations
' for his constitution was strong and excellent but as a’
source of luxurious sensations. It is a great misfortune, at
least it is a great peril, to have tasted the enchanted cup
of youthful rapture incident to a poetic temperamant. The
standard of high-wrought sentimentality once made known
experimentally, it is rare to see a submission afterwards to
the sobrieties of life.Coleridge, to speak in the words of
Cervantesy; wanted better bread than was made of wheat; and
when youthful blood no longer sustained the riot of his animal”
spirits, he endeavored to excite them by artificial stimulants.

This accusation is peculiarly comparable to the one made
by Japp against De Quincey himselfyexplaining the latter's
opium habit: "This excessive sensibilityy accompanied as it was
with sensuous perceptions unduly exacting, rendered him
dependent on the periodical gratification of certain senses
or appetites.” (17)

This comparison might go to prove that De Quincey,
angered at Coleridge's accusing him of spreading opium-eating
by his works, sought to hurl upon Coleridge the cnarge tnat ne,
himself, had been taking opium for his personal enjoyment.

De Quincey, probably desiring to alleviate his inferiority
feelings, seized upon Coleridge for this purpose.De Quincey
had no proof whatscever that Coleridge first took opium to
produce "luxurious sensations," but he merely guessed at that

_conclusion at finding out that Cdleriqge had been under stress

during his brief army career at Malta.

(17) Japps Thomas De Quincey, po. 3.
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Turning aside from De Quincey's‘vi§lationsbo?~thg_
principle of scientific accuracy in prose literature, we
come now to a consideration of his objectives and intentions
in his writings about the Lake poets.

Comparatively, it appears, the opiumfeaterbwrote a
larger portion of eulogy, and, what is of gregter'ihporﬁance,
of acute and impartial criticism of Wordsw&rth; the same
might also apply to Coleridgesand, to a lesser degree, to
Southey. Looking first toward Wordsworth; we find invaluable
contributions concerning the poet's dramatic experiences in
France during the pre-revolutionary days; Wordsworth's
poetry criticized in an unbiased manner; the accounts of
the Wordsworths,minus the eleﬁents of envy and detraction.
Several minor contributions could be added.

Of the poet's early days in France we readz‘('a)
"Wordsworth,it is well known to all who know anything of his
history, felt hfmself by tﬁe gorgeous festival era of the
Revolution____ that era when the sleeping snakes which after-
wards ‘'stung the national felicity, were yet covered with
flowers___that-he went over té Paris, and spent about one
entire ye;r between that city, Orleans, and Blois," (19)
Wordsworth we see strongly attached to Beaupuis, who is
described by De Quincey in glowing terms, (20) and vwho, says
De Quincey, quoting, |

‘perishéd, fighting in supreme command,
upon the banks of the unhappy Loire.'

i19) Thbid.
(20) lbid., pp. 333-335.
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The accounts of the Wordsworths which have not been
afflicted with De Quincey's spite are charming and delightful
in the expression therein of Mary and Dorothy and Wiliiam
Wordsworthythe children, social customs of the Lake districts
and the Wordsworthd' part in them, and good-fellowshib in
the Lakes.

His contributions to the.understanding of Coleridge
include: an appreciation of his intellectual powers; the
.revelations of interesting relations between Coleridge and
William and Dorothy Wofdsworth;.sympathy,on’bqgasions, with
Coleridge's opium habit; interestiﬁg facts about Coleridge's

life.
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CONCLUS I1ON

When we contrast the favorable and vindictive intents
of De Quinéey, we find that without a doubt ihe»constructive,
unkiased, and truthful accounts predominaterover the
destructivey, biasedy and untruthful ones. Ve cannot oyerlook
the fact, nevertheless, that De Quincey's writings were
offensive to the Wordsworths, the surviving Coleridges,and
Southey. To these people, living at the time which his
Literary Reminiscences was published, the articles seemed
totglly inconsiderate and brazen. !n our day, however, it
is possible to read the delicious-witted quips and stories
about the Lake poets without a feeling of outrage. What was
once intensely personal to parties concerned is now the
source of delight for readers. About De Quincey the man in
relationship with the Lake poets as men, it can be discovered
that he never in everyday life tried to outdo them or to
betray them; De Quincey the man must have been far more harmless

and affable then De Quincey the journalist.

The world is truly grateful to De Quincey for his
vivid descriptions of meeting Wordsworth,Coleridgesand Southey;
for his beautifuily cadenced prose conceptions of the Lake

country, with the Lake poets as the proud traversers of its
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wonderful stretches; his analysis of opium and its
effects upon genious struggling in its whirlpool;
for entertainment, humor, pathos, tragedy, sweetness
and light, all encompassed in a lyrical flow of
powerful words.
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